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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Great World Company
Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The directors of the
Company, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERSE
Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) and the
management of Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred
to as the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the annual
report of the Group of the year ended 31 March 2023.

On the one hand, the economic outlook as a whole remains
weak. The ongoing trade disputes, political uncertainties and
global pandemic have all had a considerable impact on our
business operations.

The Group recorded a total turnover of approximately
HK$162,530,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease by approximately 49.8% as compared
to approximately HK$323,634,000 of last year. Loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year was approximately
HK$58,164,000 (2022: HK$41,082,000), representing an
increase by approximately 41.6%. The Board did not propose
any dividend for the year (2022: Nil).

However, despite these challenges, the Group has continued
to seek new opportunities and adapt to the changing economic
landscape. We are still pursuing new markets, implementing
cost-saving measures and looking for investment opportunities
in innovative technologies to remain competitive. We will
leverage our established supply chain network as well as our
media resources to expand into promising market segments
such as international vehicle trading focusing on emerging
markets and domestic cultural and tourism products.

While the future remains uncertain, we are confident that we
can continue to thrive in the coming years. We are constantly
exploring new avenues of growth and diversification and we
remain committed to delivering value to our shareholders.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders, 7R AEFE I EERHIRE BE RER
employees and business partners for their continued support B —B AR RER - BT
and dedication. Your contributions have been invaluable to {EEEIMKFINKIIMSEBEEE - &
our success, and we look forward to continuing our journey PIEAFREI G —EEF - E“ERFINE

together. 2o

Ng Mui King, Joky FiE

Chairman RER

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023 B ZEZ=FA=1+ANH
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yanqiang, aged 41, has been an executive director
of the Company since 6 October 2014. He is the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company. He has 16 years of
experience in forestry, finance and corporate management. He
holds a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in engineering
from the Central South University of Forestry and Technology.

Mr. Gu Zhonghai, aged 39, has been an executive director
of the Company since 9 August 2019. He holds a bachelor of
e-commerce and a master degree in business administration
from Wuhan University of Technology. Mr. Gu started off
his career in the marketing field in 2009 at China Telecom
Corporation Limited Shenzhen branch. From 2011 to 2014,
he served as operation manager and directors of VIP at
Tencent, with experience in providing services to several
companies on the list of the Fortune Global 500. He has an in-
depth insight into big data marketing, traffic cooperation and
traditional corporate digitalized transformation as well as their
implementation.

Mr. Zhao Xinyan, aged 49, has been an executive director of
the Company since 16 October 2020. He is a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. He has more than
20 years of work experience in the public transportation and
tourism industries, including more than 10 years of advertising
and marketing experience.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, aged 61, re-designated from an
executive director to a non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 22 December 2017. She is the chairman of the
Board of the Company. She has over 30 years of experience
in telecommunication, import and export trading, accounting,
finance and corporate management.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Koon Yan, aged 59, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 9 May 2008 and
is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Chung holds a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a practicing
member and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Chung is a director of Chiu, Choy & Chung CPA
Ltd. He has over 28 years of experience in accounting, auditing
and taxation. Currently, Mr. Chung is an independent non-
executive director of an independent non-executive director
of Synergy Group Holdings International Limited (stock code:
1539), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “MB”), and is also an
independent non-executive director of Winson Holdings Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 6812), whose shares are listed on
the MB. From 12 November 2013 to 10 June 2021, Mr. Chung
was an independent non-executive director of Asian Citrus
Holdings Limited (stock code: 73), a company whose shares
are listed on the MB and were admitted to trading on AIM (a
market operated by the London Stock Exchange) in 2006 but
which has been cancelled from trading on AIM since 29 May
2017.

Ms. Zhao Yongmei, aged 55, has been an independent
non-executive director since 20 October 2014. She is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
audit committee as well as the nomination committee. She has
over 26 years of experience in banking, finance and corporate
management.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

Mr. Jing Baoli, aged 58, has been an independent
non-executive director since 13 August 2021. He is a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee. Mr. Jing graduated from Beijing
University Law School with a Bachelor’s degree in Laws in
July 1987 and acquired a Master’'s degree in Laws from
Lanzhou University in December 1997. After graduation from
Beijing University, he was assigned to the High Court of Gansu
Province since July 1987 and worked in various positions till July
1997. In July 1997, Mr. Jing joined Gansu Tianhe Law Firm as a
partner and in July 1999, he joined Beijing Shuang Cheng Law
Firm as an attorney-at-laws. In August 2007, Mr. Jing worked as
an attorney in China Commercial Law Company in Guangdong.
Mr. Jing has accumulated over 30 years of experience in the
legal field. Mr. Jing was admitted as a member of the Board of
Supervisor (“BS”) in the Second Anniversary of Shenzhen Big
Data Industry Development Promotion Association (“SBD”) on
21 December 2018 and became the head of BS of SBD on
16 October 2020. Currently, Mr. Jing is an independent non-
executive director of China Resources and Transportation
Group Limited (stock code: 269), a company listed on the MB.
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Biographical Details of Senior Management

SREEAERERE

Mr. Li Hao, aged 48, is the head of the business travel service
department of the Group, the director and general manager
of Guangzhou Yilvtu Commercial Development Co., Ltd., has
25 years of experience in railway passenger transportation
management services, and has served as the first captain of
the high-speed railway fleet, the team leader of the Guangzhou-
Kowloon Passenger Transport Section of the Guangzhou
Railway Administration, and the deputy head of the Shenzhen
North Station of the Guangzhou Railway Administration. He
led the development and operation of the ERP data operation
analysis system and the intelligent business management
system of the Railway Administration. He is familiar with the
organization of China’s railway service, high-speed rail catering
and business travel service operation.

Mr. Leung Hoi, aged 35, is the Head of Marketing of the
Company. Mr. Leung worked under the authority of French
Commerce Chamber and the French Embassy in Shanghai
to help French technological companies implement business
development strategies in the Chinese market. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience in technology product development,
international marketing strategies as well as international
strategic planning. Mr. Leung holds an EMBA from Beijing
University as well as a master’s degree in engineering from
Institut d’Optique Graduate School in France.

Mr. Rao Bin, aged 59, is a Vice-President of Shenzhen
Zhixunpai and General Manager of Shenzhen-Dongguan
Region. He has held senior management positions in renowned
media companies such as Southern Metropolis Daily and
Toutiao. He has more than 22 years of experience in advertising,
media promotion, especially in real estate advertising. Mr. Rao
holds a master’s degree in Chinese Language and Literature
from Huazhong Normal University.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MARKET REVIEW
Intelligent Advertising and Railroad Media Business

Intelligent Advertising Business

The year 2023 marks a significant milestone for the digital
advertising market in China. With the increasing penetration
of the internet and smartphones, the Chinese market has
become the largest digital advertising market in the world.
According to a report by dentsu China, digital media is
projected to account for 80% of total local advertising
spending in China by 2024. This trend is expected
to continue in 2023, with digital advertising spending
projected to reach US$173.6 billion.

Precise marketing has become increasingly important in
reshaping the rules of content seeding in China’s digital
advertising market. Brands are using precise marketing
to target specific audiences, using technologies such
as Al and big data to analyze consumer behavior and
preferences. The use of KOLs (Key Opinion Leaders) has
also become a popular way for brands to connect with
their target audience and increase brand awareness.

OTT (Over-The-Top) activation terminals are concentrated
in second, third, and fourth tier cities in China. The
penetration of OTT platforms, such as iQiyi and Tencent
Video, has been significant in these areas due to the lack
of traditional media infrastructure. As a result, advertisers
are investing more in these platforms to reach audiences in
these cities.

Railroad Media Business

China’s domestic tourism market has shown signs of
recovery, with domestic travel volume having recovered
to 90% of pre-pandemic levels in the first quarter of 2023,
approximately 1.2 billion domestic tourist trips were made
in China. The top three international travel destinations for
Chinese tourists are Australia/New Zealand, Southeast
Asia and Japan. However, fear of COVID-19 and expensive
COVID-19 testing, among other factors, may deter travelers
from taking to the skies.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmIE R

Despite these challenges, the domestic tourism market
in China is projected to continue growing. Fitch believes
that the tourism sector is less affected by uncertainty over
employment and income growth than other service and
retail sectors. To stay ahead of the competition, brands
should provide unique and personalized experiences that
cater to the changing needs and preferences of Chinese
tourists. Key trends in the market include short-distance
and self-driving travel as well as rural and nature-based
tourism.

Overall, the post-COVID domestic tourism market in China
presents significant growth potential for brands that can
adapt to changing market trends and provide exceptional
experiences for travelers. With the right strategies in place,
businesses could drive growth and tap into the thriving
domestic tourism market in China.

Agricultural, Forestry and Consumer Products Business
Chinese agricultural producers face various challenges and
difficulties in 2023. While China aims to be more self-sufficient
in food production, they continue to struggle to increase
their production to meet the growing demand. This is due to
problems such as farmland loss, degradation, acidification
and salinization, which have been escalating in recent years.
Additionally, the country’s agriculture industry faces challenges
with imports and competition from other countries, which
can limit their growth. The government has made preserving
farmland and ensuring domestic supply key priorities, but
this requires significant investment and resources. Therefore,
Chinese agricultural producers must navigate these challenges
to ensure the sustainability and growth of their industry.

Supply-chain Business

In 2023, the supply chain industry is facing a range of
challenges, including ongoing trade tensions, pandemic-related
disruptions, and a shortage of factory workers. Despite these
issues, China remains a dominant player in the technology
and electronics industry. US companies are diversifying their
sourcing options to countries such as India, Mexico and
Vietnam, while the Chinese government is taking steps to
ensure domestic supply.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Businesses that rely heavily on Chinese manufacturing should
take action to mitigate risks to their supply chains, such as
building stronger relationships with suppliers and investing in
technology to improve supply chain visibility and resilience. The
industry is characterized by increased competition, rising costs
and a heightened focus on risk management.

In recent developments, the JPMorgan Global Manufacturing
Purchasing Managers’ Index reported that global manufacturing
output increased in February 2023, following a six-month period
of decline caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Supply chain
problems also eased, aiding production in mainland China.

Overall, the supply chain industry in 2023 is characterized
by a range of challenges and opportunities, with China
remaining a major player in the technology and electronics
industry. Businesses must take steps to mitigate risks and
improve supply chain resilience to remain competitive in this
environment.

Property Business

In 2023, China’s property market continues to face challenges
despite early signs of recovery. The research firm China Beige
Book reported a sharp decline in both pricing and transactions
in the commercial property space, while Moody’s estimates that
the property sector and its related industries account for over
25% of China’s economy. Despite this, the National Bureau of
Statistics’ home price index, based on 70 cities, rose month-
on-month, indicating stabilizing home prices in 2023. Standard
& Poor’s expects China developer sales to fall by about 3% to
5% in 2023, slightly better than the previously forecasted 5% to
8% drop. In summary, China’s property market remains fragile
in 2023, and policymakers may need to take action to support
the industry’s recovery.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Intelligent Advertising and Railroad Media Business

Intelligent Advertising Business

Shenzhen Zhixunpai Information Technology Company
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, has maintained a
leading position in the industry thanks to its intelligent
advertising and media services, despite uncertainties in the
real estate sector. With the current challenges faced by the
China real estate market, most players are experiencing
cashflow difficulties and significant reductions in their
advertising budgets.

Given the prevailing market sentiment due to the impact of
COVID-19 and sector-specific challenges, we are focused
on diversifying the applications of our proprietary Big Data
and Al technological platforms to explore new growth
opportunities. Our Al system’s powerful data processing
capabilities enable it to be adapted to a wide range of
applications that we will carefully investigate. These include
applying the analytic capabilities in investment decision-
making and providing Al-driven digital marketing strategies
in our other business segments. With our rich digital
media background, we will also explore applications and
opportunities in short video and social media industry.

Developing such verticals will create additional growth
opportunities and broaden our income sources while
fostering additional synergies between our various
businesses.

Railroad Media Business

Since we started providing railroad media services in 2019,
the Group has garnered extensive expertise and access to
high-speed railroad resources while expanding organically
within the ecosystem. However, the COVID-19 pandemic
caused significant disruption to the travel and tourism
industries, which hindered the high-speed railroad media’s
anticipated growth potential.

Nonetheless, the development of vaccines and the low
mortality rate of recent variants have led to gradually
opening borders and resuming travel worldwide. This
presents an opportune time for the Group to expand its
business into the recovering travel sector and potentially
benefit from post-pandemic explosive growth. As a
result, the Group is actively seeking suitable investment
opportunities in related sectors and is taking steps to
tap into cultural tourism resources and develop rural
characteristic tourism products.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue generated from the
provision of intelligent advertising and railroad media services
was approximately HK$142,228,000 (2022: HK$299,784,000).

Agricultural, Forestry and Consumer Products Business
Demand for our agricultural and forestry products are
decreasing due to sluggish consumer demand in an economic
downturn.

The Group is exploring potential investment opportunities
in Chinese medicine sector especially Chinese medicine
processing which would enable tapping into mass market
consumption and provide additional growth potential.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue generated from
the sales of agricultural, forestry and consumer products was
approximately HK$18,316,000 (2022: HK$22,507,000).

Supply-chain Business

With unfavorable market condition and a global lack of appetite
for Chinese manufacturing, the Group is closely observing
industries of interest to seize potential investment opportunities
in order to diversify its product portfolio further and broaden the
income sources.

The Group has been successful in establishing international
trading lines for their car trading business and is now looking to
expand this venture further. The Group’s efforts in building its
global network have paid off, as they have been able to develop
partnerships with suppliers and distributors across multiple
regions. This expansion has allowed the Group to improve its
supply chain management, enabling them to provide high-
quality cars to customers worldwide, especially in emerging
markets. With their sights set on even greater success, the
Group is determined to continue growing this business down
the line.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue generated from the

sales of supply-chain products was approximately HK$846,000
(2022: HK$4,000).
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Property Business

The Group owns a property which comprises a residential and
commercial development site with a site area of approximately
3,111.96 square meters (“sg.m.”) located at Leshan City,
Sichuan Province, the People’s Republic of China. The
property has a gross floor area of approximately 27,134.46
sg.m. (inclusive of a basement floor) and comprises 4 types of
functions, namely residential, commercial, basement car park
and facilities.

Due to unfavorable market conditions, the property’s value
has dropped, and the Group is now looking for a way to sell
it as soon as the market conditions recover to a better level.
The Group is constantly monitoring the market and exploring
new opportunities to sell the property. The Group’s experience
in the real estate market gives us an advantage in navigating
challenging times, and we remain optimistic about the future of
this property.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue derived from short-
term leasing of the commercial portion of the property was
approximately HK$1,140,000 (2022: HK$1,339,000).

OUTLOOK

The economic outlook for 2023 is mixed, with global economic
growth expected to be negatively impacted by international
tensions and the ongoing Ukraine war. However, China’s
commitment to economic reforms and focus on innovation
and technology offer hope for growth. The government has
implemented policies to support small and medium-sized
enterprises and improve the business environment, which could
boost investment and productivity.

The Group’s profitability and business growth are affected by
the current macroeconomic conditions.

The Group will seek to broaden the application of its Al
technology platform as well as its high-speed railroad media
resources to develop new lines of business focused on the
strong recovery of China domestic tourism. The Group is
also exploring investment opportunities in promising Chinese
medicine products to break into the mass market consumption
market and leverage its strong precise marketing and intelligent
advertising capabilities.
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As supply-chain is being disrupted around the world, the Group
is actively looking for stable and high demand products and will
steadily grow the car trading business that shows promising
growth potential.

The Group will remain conservative and prudent towards its
profitability in the coming months. Nevertheless, we have taken
measures to mitigate the impact of an economic downturn
and will formulate necessary strategies and take further actions
to enhance the long-term profitability and sustainability of the
Group.

RISK FACTORS

Market Risk

Market risk factors for 2023 are heavily influenced by the
ongoing geopolitical tensions, particularly the escalating conflict
in Ukraine, which threatens to disrupt global supply chains and
increase the cost of commodities. Additionally, rising inflationary
pressures and the potential for central banks to raise interest
rates could lead to a slowdown in economic growth. However,
the increasing focus on innovation and technology, particularly
in China, presents opportunities for growth and investment. In
this uncertain environment, it is crucial for businesses to remain
agile and adaptable to navigate the potential risks and take
advantage of emerging opportunities.

Natural Risk

The occurrence of severe weather conditions, e.g. floods,
droughts, cyclones and windstorms, and natural disasters,
e.g. earthquakes, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests,
may diminish the supply of plants available for harvesting, or
otherwise impede the logging operations or the growth of
plants, which in turn may have an adverse effect on the Group’s
agricultural and forestry products business.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Many aspects of the Group’s business are subject to laws
and regulations, including without limitation, sale of goods
and services, trade descriptions, intellectual property,
product safety, food safety, data privacy, insurance, dutiable
commodities, product eco-responsibility, telecommunications
and broadcasting, competition, listing and disclosure, and
corporate governance, of China and other countries in the
world. Whilst we manage compliance proactively and procure
to obtain first-rate independent legal services to ensure the
highest standards in compliance, any failure to comply with
laws and regulations may result in legal proceedings and
expose to liability and sanctions. In any event, dealing with
complaints, investigations or legal proceedings, regardless of
their outcome, could be costly and time-consuming and could
divert management attention. More importantly, the long-term
sustainability of our business is largely dependent on a steady
and balanced regulatory environment. Unanticipated changes in
policies or regulatory practices by the relevant authorities may
require us to change our business strategies and practices, and
consequently, may cause material effect on our business.

The Board has paid attention to the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements essential to its business and would seek
professional advice from external legal advisers and consultants,
if considered necessary, to ensure that transactions to be
performed by the Group are in compliance with applicable
environmental policies, laws and regulations. During the period
under review, as far as the Board is aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the laws or regulations
that have a significant impact on its operations.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately
HK$162,530,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease by approximately 49.8% as compared
to the turnover of approximately HK$323,634,000 for last year.
The overall decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to
the extreme market conditions caused by the continued and
prolonged outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic. Administrative
and other operating expenses decreased to approximately
HK$46,198,000 compared with approximately HK$53,417,000
of the previous corresponding year, representing decrease of
approximately 13.5%, mainly resulted from the decrease in
research and development expenses on the development of a
programmatic intelligent advertising and programmatic content
operation system. A loss from changes in fair value less costs
to sell of biological assets of approximately HK$2,445,000
was recognised for the year. A provision of approximately
HK$6,983,000 for impairment loss in respect of trade receivables
was recognised for the year. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$58,164,000, which was approximately 41.6% higher than
the loss attributable to owners of the Company incurred for last
year of approximately HK$41,082,000.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s operations and investments were financed
principally by cash generated from its business operations,
borrowings and shares issued. As at 31 March 2023, cash
and bank deposits of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$10,882,000 representing a decrease of approximately
43.7% comparing with the cash and bank deposits of
approximately HK$19,339,000 as at 31 March 2022. The
Group’s net current liabilities, which comprised properties
held for sale, inventories, biological assets, trade and other
receivables, cash and bank deposits, trade and other payables,
contract liabilities, lease liabilities, amount due to a shareholder,
amounts due to directors, related companies, and amounts
due to non-controlling interest, amounted to approximately
HK$60,840,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$5,679,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the ratio of

debt to equity, was approximately 475% as at 31 March 2023
(2022: 128%).
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Capital structure
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fund raising activity

On 23 June 2023, the Company entered into eight separate
subscription agreements with eight subscribers, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue,
and the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, the convertible notes with aggregate principal amount
of HK$31,950,000. Further details were disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 25, 26 and 28 June 2023.

Treasury policies

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy to maintain
cash necessary to meet anticipated expenditures plus a
reasonable cushion for emergencies. Aimost all bank deposits
are being kept in Hong Kong dollars, or in the local currencies
of the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign
exchange risk. Any excess cash would be invested in liquid
income-producing instruments which should be managed by
a qualified investment manager or operated in accordance
with advice provided by a qualified investment manager or
decision of an investment committee, if formed, comprising
at least one executive director, at least one independent non-
executive director and at least one individual who must possess
appropriate professional qualifications and/or financial and
investment expertise and experience.

Most of the trading transactions, assets and liabilities of the
Group were currently denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
United States Dollars and Renminbi. The Group did not
experience any material difficulties on its operations or liquidity
as a result of fluctuation in currency exchange rates during the
year under review. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no
foreign exchange contracts, interest of currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purpose.

The Group is closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material outstanding
capital commitments (2022: Nil).

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have charges on assets
(2022: Nil) and did not have any material contingent liabilities
(2022: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 65
employees (2022: 85 employees). The Group reviewed
employees’ remuneration from time to time and salary
adjustment was normally made on an annual basis. Special
adjustment based on length of service and good performance
could be made at any time when warranted. In addition to
salaries, the Group provided employees’ benefits such as
medical insurance and provident fund. Share options and
bonuses were also available to employees of the Group at the
discretion of the directors and depending upon the financial
performance of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) has
been committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) in order to enhance the transparency in disclosure of
material information. The Board considers such commitment
is essential for internal management, financial management
and protection of shareholders’ interest and believes that
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance benefits all
shareholders, investors and the business of the Company as a
whole. The Company has applied the principles in and complied
with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023 except for the following deviations:

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ transactions in
securities of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in
the adopted code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transaction throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for reviewing, evaluating and finalising
the Company’s strategies and policies, annual budgets,
business plans and performance, and has full access to
adequate, reliable and timely information on the Group so as
to enable them to make a timely decision. The Board also
has the collective responsibility for leadership and control of,
and for promoting the success of, the Group by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs.

One of the roles of the Board is to protect and enhance
shareholders’ interests. The Board acts with integrity and due
care for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
Leading the Group in a responsible and effective manner, the
Board adopts terms of reference which detail its functions and
responsibilities, including, but not limited to, ensuring competent
management, approving objectives, strategies and business
plans and monitoring integrity in the Company’s conduct of
affairs. The management is obliged to supply the Board with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the members
to make informed decisions and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities. Each Director has separate and independent
access to the Group’s senior management to acquire more
information and to make further enquiries if necessary.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties of the Company. The duties of the Board
on corporate governance functions include developing and
reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management and reviewing the Group’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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The Board currently comprises three executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhang Yangiang, Mr. Gu Zhonghai and Mr. Zhao
Xinyan, one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Ng Mui King,
Joky (chairman of the Board), and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Koon Yan, Ms. Zhao
Yongmei and Mr. Jing Baoli.

Each Director has different professional and industrial
experience, which enable them to make valuable and diversified
advice and guidance to the Group’s activities and development.
Details of the background and qualifications of the Directors are
set out on pages 6 to 8 of this annual report. The Company has
received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors,
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Candidates to be nominated as directors of the Company are
experienced, high calibre individuals. Under the Articles of
Association of the Company, any Director appointed by the
Board shall hold office until the first annual general meeting after
his/her appointment and shall then be subject to re-election
by the shareholders. Apart from this, every Director is subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board held a total of
13 board meetings, inclusive of the quarterly regular meetings
according to the CG Code. The attendance of each Director is
set out on page 28.

CHAIRMAN

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board in 2007. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board and to ensure that the Board works
effectively in the discharge of its responsibilities.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has not appointed a Chief Executive Officer and
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business is carried
out by the senior management and monitored by the executive
Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees in accordance with
the CG Code, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. These committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and are able to seek independent professional advice when
appropriate and upon request. Details of these committees,
including their compositions, major responsibilities and
functions, and work performed during the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Koon Yan (chairman
of the Audit Committee), Ms. Zhao Yongmei and Mr. Jing
Baoli. The Audit Committee meets with the Group’s senior
management regularly to review the effectiveness of the internal
control systems and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of
the Group.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

(i)  making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and any resignation and dismissal of that
auditor;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity
of the external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard;

(iiy liaising with the Board, senior management and the
auditors to monitor the integrity of financial statements,
the quarterly, interim and annual reports in particular on
accounting policies and practices and compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and other
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(iv) reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk

management system to ensure the management of the

Company discharges its duty under an effective internal

control system;

(v) reviewing the report and management letter submitted
by external auditor, and considering any findings of major
investigations of internal control matters as delegated
by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response; and
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(vi) considering the engagement of external independent
consultant to provide internal audit function and to carry
out internal control review, which comprises, inter alia,
enterprise risk assessment, review the internal control
system and corporate governance compliance/practice of
the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the audit committee
reviewed the financial results, the accounting policies and
practices adopted, the reports of the external independent
consultant on internal audit as well as reviewing the risk
management and internal control procedures of the Group and
5 audit committee meetings were held. The attendance of each
committee member is set out on page 28.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhao Xinyan, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Zhao Yongmei (chairman of
the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Jing Baoli. It reviews
and determines the policy for the remuneration of directors and
senior management of the Group.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are:

() conducting regular review of the remuneration policy of
Group’s directors and senior management;

(i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing such
remuneration policy;

(i) making recommendation to the Board on remuneration
packages of the Directors;

(iv) determining remuneration packages of senior management
proposed by the Directors that will attract, motivate and
retain the competent staff;

(v) reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time;
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(V)

(vii)

reviewing and approving compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment
or any compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of director for misconduct; and

recommending the Board of the structure of long-term
incentive plans for executive Directors and certain senior
management.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, one remuneration
committee meeting was held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The attendance of each committee member is set
out on page 28.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhang Yangiang (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Zhao Yongmei and Mr. Jing Baoli.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are:

(@)

reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

identifying and nominating for approval of the Board
suitably qualified candidates as additional Directors or to fill
Board vacancies as they arise;

making recommendations to the Board with respect to
the re-election by shareholders of any Director under the
relevant provisions in the Company’s articles of association;

assessing the independence of the candidates in the
case of appointment and re-appointment of independent
non-executive Directors having regard to relevant guidelines
or requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in place from
time to time; and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors on an annual basis having regard to relevant
guidelines or requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in
place from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, one meeting was held
by the Nomination Committee to review the composition of the
Board. The attendance of each committee member is set out
on page 28.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. With a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Upon the review
of the Board’s composition taking into account the diversity
policy, the Nomination Committee considers that the Board has
maintained an appropriate mix and balance of age, ethnicity,
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the business requirements of the Company. The
Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy to
ensure its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

The Company adopted a nomination policy which sets out
the selection criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director and procedure of appointing and
re-appointing a Director. In assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee would consider
factors including but not limited to academic background,
qualifications, relevant experiences in the industry, character
and integrity of the candidate, whether the candidate can
contribute to the diversity of the Board and the candidate’s
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest.
Suitable candidate can be nominated by any Director for
the Nomination Committee’s consideration. The Nomination
Committee should evaluate the personal profile of the candidate
based on the selection criteria as set out in the nomination
policy and undertake adequate due diligence in respect of
each proposed candidate. After comprehensive assessment,
the Nomination Committee will then make recommendation to
the Board for approval. The Nomination Committee will review
the nomination policy and assess its effectiveness on a regular
basis or as required.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING(S)
AND BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING(S)

The following table shows the attendance of Directors at general
meeting(s) and meeting(s) of the Board and Board Committees
during the year ended 31 March 2023:

EEHERRAS -EBENREEE
eRZER

TRIFRBE-ZZE-_=F=A=+—H
HFEEEFHERRAE  EFERE

EREggRBER

Number of meeting (s) attended/held

HEeE/ BTeERY
Meeting(s) of  Meeting(s) of  Meeting(s) of
General Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Committee Committee Committee
Bzg ENZEE FMzEe REZEE
LN 83 83 83 83
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhang Yangjang RABTHE 1A 13/13 - - 11
Mr. Gu Zhonghai BREEE 11 13/13 - - -
Mr. Zhao Xinyan ik 11 13/13 - 1A -
Non-executive Director: FHTEE -
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky REBRTL 11 13/13 - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BVHHTTEE -
Directors:
Mr. Chung Koon Yan EERTE 17 13/13 5/5 - -
Ms. Zhao Yongmei gL 1 13/13 5/5 il i
Mr. Jing Baoli HEMESE i 13/13 5/5 il i
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD EEeUEE

The Board is responsible for determining the overall strategy and
corporate development and ensuring the business operations
are properly monitored. The Board reserves the right to decide
all policy matters of the Group and material transactions. The
Board delegates the day-to-day operations to senior staff who
are responsible for different aspects of the operations of the
Group.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal action against the Directors in compliance
with the CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.
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Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company. The Company will also arrange and provide
support for suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis
on the roles, functions and duties of its Directors. All Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. A form has been provided to each of the Directors to
assist them to record training information for reporting to the
Company as confirmation of training undertaken. The training
information indicate that the Directors have received training
and/or materials on corporate governance and other relevant
topics.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible to ensure the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and the Group in
accordance with the relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards and to ensure the published
consolidated financial statements should be issued in a timely
manner and can provide a true and fair view of the business
and financial information of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Board has adopted
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinances that are
relevant to its operations.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors on financial reporting
are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system for the purpose of compliance
with the provision of the CG Code with an aim to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration paid and payable to the auditors of the Company
in respect of their services for the year ended 31 March 2023
are as follows:

Friz AR

Services rendered

ZE AR

Audit services

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Internal control is fundamental to the Group’s daily operations.
Internal control is useful to Directors, senior management and
other key personnel who are accountable for control in the
Group as well as acting as a tool in providing Directors and
senior management with information of sufficient quality to make
business decisions and meet their regulatory obligations.

In this connection, Internal Control Policy and Procedures
have been formulated and implemented within the Group
with the primary objective of providing general guidance and
recommendations on a basic framework of internal control and
risk management. The key objectives of the internal control
include:

—  Safeguarding assets

—  Ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial
records and reports

— Promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations
and laws

- Promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations
The Internal Control Policy and Procedures cover, amongst

others, the following material activities — finance, operation and
compliance:
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Finance

Effective financial control is essential in identifying and managing
liabilities to ensure that the Group is not unnecessarily exposed
to avoidable financial risks as well as safeguarding of assets
from inappropriate use or loss, including the prevention and
detention of fraud and errors. A set of measures has been
formulated and implemented to tighten the control on cash
flow. All payments should be properly checked and approved.
Proper accounting and financial records shall be maintained in
supporting financial budgets, periodic management accounts
and reports.

Operation

With regard to the Group’s businesses, different sets of
principles and procedures have been set up for management
teams of different operations to follow. Through the
implementation of those principles and procedures, the
operation process became more accountable, transparent and
efficient.

Compliance

The Company has fully complied with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules. Financial reports, announcements and
circulars have been prepared and published in accordance with
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company engaged an external independent
consultant with professional staff in possession of relevant
expertise (the “Independent Professional Firm”) to perform
internal audit function and to carry out an internal control review,
which comprised, inter alia, enterprise risk assessment and
review of the internal control system of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. The review
plan was approved by the Audit Committee and the Board.
Based on the risk assessment and the review of the internal
control system of the Group conducted by the Independent
Professional Firm for the year, no significant risk and control
deficiency was identified. The relevant assessment and review
reports have been considered by the Audit Committee and the
Board for assessing the effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Accounting
Function and the internal audit function performed by the
Independent Professional Firm. The Board, through the reviews
made by the Independent Professional Firm and the Audit
Committee, concluded that the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a
whole.

Fr %

BRI ER R N EIEA B
T ARERAKE B AR A &R 2
BEE  RRREEEZHTEEMA
HIBK - BREERD MERREFTA KE
e —RIIINEEIR S IRIES 2 R
HERETT - TERRAEGERER
& - BEZ SR MM BREELT
UMERUHIAE - EHEBRERIAREZ
EE -

EE

BERAKE RS 52EEEBEK
EFEZEARZRURIERF - EBS
AZERALEF  2EBAREFER
B ERRE -

B
RABEHEFGEM EmARA AR
E o BBmE - A MBEKHRIBGEM
ETRRIZ IRE BN T o

RER - RRARREABHBERKEE
BEEANBZINEBYBEE([BLEER
all) - NETTREREZ I B M TT R AR
Ems AR BReRERFGRE
BIASEEz AR SRR (BREYE - &
BRERER)  BHABKERZES
RESEHE RBAFERBIEER
REETT 2 B EHE R AR E AR EL
ERBZER  XWEIRNFEEANRR
REERRE - AT AREHNREER
REVZBEREFTEEE  UFERE
B R EEERG AR - BRE
BeNCEHNBLEXARMEH S
AP NAMEZRBENTECER - H
BTEENER  HIFELREERS
TR -EFERBBUERAANEZ
ZBgZEBHER  BEANEEZRR
EERAMEERRBRASE RS EH -

HAERERAR BB =FFH



32

Corporate Governance Report
e EERRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to
which the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The
recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final
dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations
and the articles of association of the Company, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the Group’s actual and expected
financial performance, expected working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans,
the retained earnings, distributable reserves and liquidity
position of the Group, the general economic conditions and any
other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and to put forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-twentieth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board by mail at Room 1202, 12/F.,
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting on a date not more than 28
days after the date on which the notice convening the meeting
is given, the requisitionist(s) him/herself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the company secretary of the
Company by mail at Room 1202, 12/F., Great Eagle Centre, 23
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The company secretary
of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business
matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to the relevant
executive officer of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company believes in regular and timely communication
with Shareholders as part of its efforts to help Shareholders
understand its business better and the way the Company
operates. To promote effective communication with the public
at large, the Company maintains a website (www.gwchl.com)
on which comprehensive information about the Company’s
major businesses, financial information and announcements,
annual, quarterly and interim reports and shareholders circulars
are being made available.

The Board is endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The chairman of the Board and members of the
Board Committees will attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”)
report for Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”). This report
is designed to allow the shareholders, investors (including
potential investors) of the Company and the public to have a
more comprehensive and profound understanding of the work
done on the ESG issues of the Group for its financial year ended
31 March 2023.

IS -

The management of the Group is responsible for monitoring and
managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness of the ESG
management system. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group has set out three key ESG goals.

(1) be responsible corporate practice to reinforce a culture of
ethics, integrity and risk awareness via regular company-
wide efforts and communications

(2) be responsible operation, for example, to manage the
environmental impact and incorporate climate change
on our operation by setting the target to reduce carbon
emissions

(8) be responsible corporate citizen, be proactive, two-
way communications through effective engagement and
transparent disclosure. The Group plan to establish a
flagship community programme and to inspire participants
to adopt a sustainable way of life.

The board of directors of the Group believes that a sound
environmental, social and governance structure is vital for
continued sustainability and development of the Group’s
activities. Therefore, the Group understands the importance
of gender equality and diversity both in implementing the
policy and operating business. Details of the gender and age
composition, and comparative remuneration in each level of
position as at 31 March 2023 can be categorised as follows:
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Employment E’E

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 65 employees, RZ-ZE—=
recorded 23.5 per cent decrease in its total number of employees 65%1EE -

during the year.

During the year, there were no confirmed non-compliance incidents
or grievances in relation to human rights and labour practices
standards and regulations that would have a significant impact on  Eazfg -
the Group.

31 March 2022

=F=RA=+—H A&EEHXE
BEFNREEEEUR123.5% °

F AR B AT B A BE N 45 T 45 Me AR I
HAEBEEAZENCBRERSHN

- St -
ZA=1-H
Number of staff
EEXE
Companies under
31 March2023  Companies under continued and
“EC-= continued discontinued
=ZA=t-H operation operation
Number of staff REELE RsERAL
EE%E THAR BETHAT
By Gender RHR
Female x 27 40 55
Male 2 38 45 68
By age group RERAR
Below 30 30T 31 39 52
301050 30E505% 25 35 58
Over 50 iBi8505% 9 11 13
By region BHE
Hong Kong 6 12 17 17
Mainland b 53 68 106
By employment contract and gender BRIBEARMEA
Permanent (female) RH(%) 12 10 13
Permanent (male) RH(B) 5 14 19
Temporary/fixed term (female) B/ TH(%) 26 30 42
Temporary/fixed term (male) fers /TH(R) 22 31 49
By employment contract and region BRRAARHE
Permanent (Hong Kong) RH(EE) 2 3 3
Permanent (mainland China) RE(REN) 15 21 29
Temporary/fixed term (Hong Kong) feps /TH(EE) 10 14 14
Temporary/fixed term (mainland China) Bef /R (hE R 38 47 7
By employment type and gender BREERR MR
Full-time (fernale) fﬁi(ﬁ) 37 37 46
Full-time (male) 2B(%) 25 44 65
Part-time (female) #B(2) 1 3 9
Part-time (male) ®E(3) 2 1 3
Per employee category RESER
Senior 2 22 28 36
Middle-level ‘?3 = 11 17 28
Supervisory-level B 14 20 23
General T 18 20 36
HRERERAGT BT =FFRK
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New Hires and Employee Turnover

Indicators

Total new hires

Number and rate (%) of new hires

By gender
Female
Male

By age group
Below 30
301050
Over 50

By region
Hong Kong
Mainland China

Total employee turnover

Number and rate (%)

By gender
Female
Male

By age group
Below 30
30t0 50
Over 50

By region
Hong Kong
Mainland China

R

HEESAY
HBESAMRILE(%)

iRl
it

i

RERAR
305 T
305 2505%
BiB50F

BHE
i
PEIR

EERXBHRLLE(%)

B
it

i

RERAR
305 T
3072505
B1B505%

BB
BB
FERL,

FRIESKIES XA
Year ended
March 31, 2022
BE-2-CfF
ZREt-BLEE

Companies under

Companies under continued and

Year ended continued discontinued

March 31, 2023 operation operation

BE-s-=F AEERE AEERAL

ZRET-HLEE THAH BETHAT

15(23%) 34(40%) 47(38%)

6(22%) 21(25%) 27(22%)

9(24%) 13(15%) 20(16%)

13(42%) 24(28%) 28(23%)

2(8%) 8(10%) 17(14%)

- 2(2%) 2(1%)

- 2(2%) 2(2%)

15(28%) 32(38%) 45(36%)
36(55%)
19(70%)
17(45%)
21(68%)
13(52%)
2(22%)
5(42%)
31(58%)
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DIVERSITY Zrit

Diversity of Board of Directors of Great World Company Holdings Ltd as at 31 March 2023 and 2022
RIB-=FR-B-__F=ZA=+—HHEREZERERLATVEEE S L

Role Bz Gender M7 Age FH#R

1

M independent non-executive director B IFH{TEE H female & B age 39-46 39E465%

non-executive director JE#1TE F male 5 age 46-58 46 =587,
age 54-61 5426154

executive director $11TEH

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
—E-=HF B2 F
=ZH=+-H =A=+—H
Number and Percentage of ZMFIMNEE ABR Female Male Female Male
employees by gender Bk g3 B peqd B
Per employee category ZESER
Senior = 7(26%) 15(40%) 36% 64%
Middle-level i 5(18%) 6(16%) 53% 47%
Supervisory-level BE 7(26%) 7(18%) 55% 45%
General T 8(30%) 10(26%) 50% 50%
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
ZBCZFZfA=t-8 “RCCH=A=t-H
Number and Percentage of ZERARINES <30 30-50 >50 <30 30-50 >50
employees by age group ABRBEDL 30T 30ZF50% BB50s 30mAT  30E505  HEES0E
Per employee category RESER
Senior =) 4(13%)  13(52%) 5(56%) 15% 46% 55%
Middle-level H 7(23%) 4(16%) =) 26% 17% 9%
Supervisory-level BiE 9(29%) 2(8%) 3(33%) 28% 17% 27%
General TT 11(35%) 6(24%) 1(11%) 31% 20% 9%
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The summary of material ESG issues, which are covered in this
report, are listed below:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Effect on Current Environmental Climate and Our
Management

As an investment holding company of the Group, we aspire
to be a sustainability advocate by leading the subsidiaries
business as an example and setting ESG standards in our
Group. In accordance with the global Glasgow Financial
Alliance for the Net Zero, we have started to study and
target the full decarbonization of our operations.

In order to achieve the target,

1. We identity ways to improve our overall energy
efficiency and saving, for example, LED light tubes,
turn off all unnecessary lights

2. We set ourselves a target to save at least 10% of
paper consumption in two years, and we would
generate a good result in next reporting year 2023-
2024, for example, by way of double-sided printing
and recycling papers

3. To focus on waste reduction, for example, to
encourage employees to use re-usable cups in place
of plastic or paper cups.
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A1. Emissions

Al. BB

The Group is principally engaged in intelligent
advertising and railroad media business, cultivation
and sales of agricultural and forestry products
business, trading (supply chain) business and property
business and has been persistent in conducting its
business in an environmentally responsible manner
and takes measures to reduce the possible impact
on the environment arising from its production and
operating activities. We will closely monitor our
greenhouse gas emissions and energy consumption
and will stay abreast of environment related regulatory
developments in the respective areas where the Group
operates.

In terms of emissions, the Group’s current business did
not generate significant emissions, but the monitoring
of emissions is still indispensable. Therefore, we will
regularly arrange for the testing of air emissions.

Air Pollutant Emissions

The pollutants listed in the standard include particulate
matter, sulfur oxides and nitrogen oxides. In addition,
the cars we operate will also generate trace amounts
of air emissions.

Types of emissions

295 € hidl

Nitrogen oxides
Ae/ty

Sulfur oxides
ekl 7))
Particulates matter
mErYE

AEETEREERES LE
BEREY  BEEMENER
HEXK - E5 (HEE) X5
KMEER  —HEBRFUHIR
BREAEMTARERR - ALK
BE e R E R LR
REHIRIEKRNTE - R
FYEREMNEZEREN R
NEERER  Ye THRERE
BRESAERBHBNES
(EV

BEmosm o AREBRBEHL
BELBAHN  BEREN
BRAARESE - At - KM
TR BRI 2= B o

ZERTRYHEH

BREMISARMBEENY
g matkykasty -t
Sh - BAPEE R TE IR ESL

1R EZE R o

1 April 2022 - 1 April 2021 -
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
—E=-= —E-—4F
A—HZE MmA—H=E
—E-=HF =B F
=R=+—-H =A=+—H
Amount (g) Amount (g)
E(R) 2(%)

221 750

5 17

16 55
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The main sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions and removals were from Scope 1
(direct emission from the mobile combustion sources)
and Scope 2 (“energy indirect” emission from the
acquired electricity) and Scope 3 (other indirect
emissions):

1 April 2022 - 31 March 2023

Scope of Greenhouse Emission/
Gas Emissions/Removals Removal Sources
AEREHKRREE BB R BR IR
Scope 1
#E
Direct Emission Combustion of fuel in mobile
sources
B B BRI BRI
GHG Deduction Removals from planted trees
=R CELENETCS
Scope 2
#E2
Indirect Emission Purchased electricity
R BEE
Scope 3
#E3
Other Indirect Emission Paper waste disposed at
landfills
H A R HE IR EEIMIARAER
Travelling
ZR
Total
#ct
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BER BB
ﬁ’ilﬂzﬁﬁi‘f(ﬂ =R FL‘J)
BERRORR B = 2R R E0EN
(BEBMEREEER) - £E
2(BBEE N8 selRf#E JHERD
N EEI(H A RERER)

—E-_-_HNB-HE-E

—=§=A=t-—H
Emission/
Removal in Intensity
tonnes of CO, (per employee)
B R BE
(WE =S 1L Hx) (BEESR)
1.02 0.01 tonnes CO,

0.01 M8 — & b hix

(4,613.02)  (37.50) tonnes CO,
(37.50) & — &bk

51.46 0.42 tonnes CO
0.42 WE — &/ tﬁm

0.36 0.0023 tonnes 002

0.0023 g — &/ Hix

(4,560.18) (87.07) tonnes CO
(37.07) Ma —4&1 tﬁm
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1 April 2021 - 31 March 2022

—E--FMA-HE-%

Scope of Greenhouse
Gas Emissions/Removals

BERBHNHREE
Scope 1
#E1

Direct Emission
BEHEN

GHG Deduction

[ 5o = Bgs

BEREEMR

Scope 2
#E2

Indirect Emission

BN
Scope 3

#E3
Other Indirect Emission

HAth BB

Total

Emission/
Removal Sources

BB R BR AR

Combustion of fuel in mobile
sources

BRI IR I

Removals from planted trees

TR R

Purchased electricity

Paper waste disposed at
landfills
EEIPEEAER

Travelling
ZIk

—=HE=ZH=+—H
Emission/
Removal in Intensity
tonnes of CO, (per employee)
BB HBR BE
(Mg =S L hR) (BEER)
1.35 0.01 tonnes CO,

0.01 Mg — & b hix

Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

The indirect emission from travelling was nil during
the reporting year. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic, the inbound travellers from Hong Kong
are required to undergo compulsory quarantine at
designated places (e.g. hotel) in Mainland China for
14 days. This measure had restricted the Company’s
travelling to Mainland China to discuss business
affairs. All meetings of the Board and business
connected parties were conducted through electronic
communication channels.

(4,613.02)  (37.50) tonnes CO,
(37.50) Mg =&t fix
36.60 0.27 tonnes CO2
0.27 Wi — &b ix
0.28 0.0023 tonnes 002
0.0023 Wi — &1t hix
2.1 0.0171 tonnes 002
0.0171 M — &1t fix
(4,5672.69)  (37.18) tonnes CO,
(37.18) M — &1t fix

BiRE Rt

REREFENAN - IRTTH R BE
WAEZ - HRCOVID-19& B HY
BE - RBIREHERR AL
e E 25 (B anE TR ) = A 5
14K K58 B & - BB R
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Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group did not generate any hazardous waste
during the reporting year. Non-hazardous waste from
the Group’s operation was mainly office paper.

The total amount of non-hazardous waste generated
by the Group during the reporting year was
approximately 0.0587 tonnes, with an intensity of
approximately 0.0005 tonnes per employee.

During the year, there was also no incident of non-
compliance with local relevant environmental laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas, emissions,
discharge into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Use of Resources

To encourage effective utilization of resources,
the Group’s management will review and develop
management policy regarding the use of energy and
resources, which manages consumption of chemical
pesticide, fertilizer, electricity, water and office paper.

Energy Consumption

The energy used in the Group’s business operations
is mainly consumption of purchased electricity.
The Group consumed a total of 53,815.25 (2022:
35,5617.38) kWh with an intensity of 827.93 (2022:
288.76) kWh per employee during the reporting year.

The increase in total consumption and intensity was
due to the fact that all employees returned to work
in office and number of employees of the Group was
decreased.

Water Consumption

To enhance the efficiency of water consumption
and reduce waste water, the Group adopted a
drip irrigation system, which help to achieve water
conservation by reducing evaporation and deep
drainage. Apart from using the purchased water, we
also use rain water in the planting operation.

There is no records in consumption of water in forestry
planting during the reporting year, and no issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Nevertheless,
the Group reminds employees to practice water
conservation in daily operations.
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Packaging Materials
The Group’s business operations did not involve any
packaging materials during the reporting year.

/l:l 3F|)jl =

Chemical pesticide and fertilizer

1 April 2022 - 31 March 2023
—E--_FMA—-HE
—E-=%=A=+—H

Pesticide
B
Fertilizer
ehe

1 April 2021 - 31 March 2022
“E--FMA—HZE
—E-—_#£=H=+—H

Pesticide
B
Fertilizer
fere

The pesticide used in planting forest is to prevent
pests of diseases and the fertilizer used is to stabilize
the growth of the tree in some areas of the land which is
lack of nutrition.

The use of pesticide and fertilizer was thoughtful
considered and determined by relevant expert. It will
not bring significant effect to the environment and is in
compliance of the local regulations and law.

Environment and natural resources

The Group constantly assesses and monitors
the environmental risks in its daily operation, and
formulates corresponding mitigation measures
promptly when discovering any potential risk to
the environment, so as to ensure such risk can be
controlled and reduced to an acceptable level. The
Group is committed to making efficient use of natural
resources and reducing waste.

R
WREERE - AEBEEEE
W BT QB -

1EEEERILIE
Amount (g) Intensity
E2(R) e
3,890 0.0125g per tree
F184510.0125%
17,520,000 56.529g per tree
S151156.52%
Amount (g) Intensity
E(R®) e
3,890 0.0125g per tree
=18410.01255%
17,520,000 56.52g per tree
F1R1556.525%
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To protect the natural environment of the forest, the
Group has perform the following:

Regularly inspection and evaluation

The Group conducts regular inspection on
unauthorized activities or illegal logging, fire hazard,
pest or diseases, etc.. Any issues observed would be
handled at the forest and remediation or rectification
works will be done timely.

Government involvement

The Government has standard measures and regular
engagement on the Group’s forest in terms of fire
prevention and pest control practices. The Group
cooperated with local government to perform pest
control spray and fire prevention measures.

Positive effect of our business to the environment
In Xinjiang, desertification issue made destruction to
the environment. Our business, planting forest, is an
effective way to prevent desertification and sandstorm,
and bring significant benefit to the environment.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS ON STAKEHOLDER,
ENGAGEMENT
B1. Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are regarded as the greatest and
valuable assets and core competitive advantage of
the Group. The Group reviewed and updated our
existing remuneration policies, e.g. whistleblowing
policy, grievance, personal account dealing and anti-
discrimination.

The recruitment and promotion of the Group are fair
and open for all employees, and are not affected by
age, sex, physical or mental health status, marital
status, family status, race, skin colour, nationality,
religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation and
other factors. The Group has maintained proper
systems to ensure equity and competitiveness of staff
remuneration and recognition. The Group encourage
open dialogue between Senior Management and staff
by physical personal meeting or e-mails.
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B2.

B3.

The Group offers competitive remuneration,
promotional opportunity, compensation and benefit
packages to attract and retain talents. Remuneration
packages are reviewed periodically based on the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and
market condition.

The Group strictly complies with applicable laws and
regulations in the localities of its operation, and the
relevant administrative rules and measures are strictly
enforced. These rules and regulations specify the
requirements relating to employment, labor relations,
employees’ remuneration, social insurances, housing
fund, mandatory provident fund and welfare to protect
the rights of employees.

Development and Training
Talent development is an important part of our human
resource strategy.

The Group provides the employees with effective
training and develop a clear promotion ladder, ensuring
that the employees have the required skills. The Group
conducts performance evaluation annually, and based
on the assessment result to provide the staff with
appropriate training, and offer job development and
promotion opportunities for outstanding employees.

The Group encourages employees to attend
comprehensive professional training to deliver top
services to our customers. The newly hired employees
are required to attend Employee Orientation to
familiarize with the Group’s mission, vision, core value
and business goals.

Anti-Money Laundering (“AML?”)

The Group is well awareness of AML laws and
regulations by conducting risk-based due diligence,
monitoring and reporting suspicious activities. The
Group also screen all participants, suppliers/customers
against sanction lists, such as those published by the
UN.
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to protecting the health
and safety of the employees and the community,
we require employees to comply with all relevant
occupational health and safety regulations, and do our
utmost to provide them with safe and healthy working
environment.

/l:l 3F|)jl =

The Company strives to provide a positive and
inclusive working environment for our staff, and to
ensure that our staff members enjoy a healthy-work
life balance. To promote good health, the Company
enhanced staff medical benefits during the year under
review.

Risk management is an important part of ensuring
occupational safety. We can identify and assess
occupational health and safety risks through
identification of the source of danger, assessment of
identified risks, and appropriate risk control measures.

In order to avoid accidents and ensure that all
employees work in a safe manner, we implement
established policies and guidelines for different
working conditions and needs which stipulates clearly
the safety procedures as well as emergency response
plans. Those established policies and guidelines will
be reviewed periodically and further improved to better
protect our employees.

The management department of the Group’s office
has also conducted a comprehensive fire drill and
emergency drill regularly. Through actual drills,
employees’ ability to escape and save themselves at
the scene of the fire was enhanced, employees’ use of
fire-extinguishing tools was improved, and everything
was done to reduce human and property losses.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no
breach of relevant laws and regulations relating to
employee’s health and safety. The Group received no
prosecutions related to occupational health and safety.
No work-related fatalities occurred between 2021 and
2023.
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To achieve the target by

/l:l 3F|)jl =

(1) communications with regulator representatives
(2) responding to information requests.

Customers

The Group listen to our customers to understand
their needs and respond with services and products
that offer excellent service while managing relevant
sustainability topics that matter to them.

To achieve the target via
(1) customer feedback channels

(2) customer events to provide and account
information to make informed decisions

(38) sustainability communications via the Group’s
e-mails and web-site.

The Group has been in compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which had a material impact on
our business operation and has not been assessed
any fines or penalties with regard to product safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
our products for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches importance to developing and
maintaining long-term relationships with our suppliers,
looking forward to forming long-term partnerships with
them. The Group also conducts follow-up assessment
on the suppliers, and, if necessary, reviews them
through a third-party organization.
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The Group could not achieve sustainable development
without working together with its suppliers. The Group
has formulated supplier assessment systems and
conducted regular assessments of the environmental
and social performance of suppliers. These systems
guarantee the quality of raw material and equipment
used in the production of the Group and strengthens
the Group’s relationship with suppliers so as to
create a beneficial cooperation together. The Group
would act with integrity, comply with applicable laws
and regulations and set the same standards for our
suppliers. For instance, if suppliers have violations
of labor regulations, including employment of child
labor, forced labor, etc., the Group would immediately
terminate the cooperation with them.

During the year, the Group was not aware that any
key suppliers had any significant actual or potential
negative impact on business ethics, environmental
protection, human rights and labour practices nor any
of them had any non-compliance incidents, in respect
of these areas.

Shareholders
Shareholders expect good return on investment and
the Group has to ensure our business to fit it in future.

To achieve the target by

(1) corporate communication via the Group’s e-mail
and web-site

(2) shareholders are free to raise questions to all
members of our Directors (including independent
non-executive Director) at Annual or Special
General Meetings.

Strengthening Our Integrity and Risk
Management

The Company reviewed existing and established new
policies to anti-bribery and anti-corruption, conflict
of interests, whistleblowing, prevention of financial
crimes, data privacy, equal opportunities and anti-
discrimination.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group maintains the highest standard of business
conduct, including zero-tolerance position on bribery
and corruptions.

To achieve the target via

(1) all employees are required to review the Code of
conduct annually and sign to acknowledge that
they understand and agree to the Code

(2) refresher training periodically

(8) all directors, employees, agents, contractors,
suppliers act to comply with applicable policies,
law and rules related to anti-corruption

(4) enhance Group Whistleblowing Policy to
streamline the report process and strengthen to
avoid conflicts of interest.

During the reporting year, these were no concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees.

Community

In order to enable sustainable development of the
Group, it is inseparable from the support of the
community and the people. As a responsible Group,
we continue to practice public welfare, actively
participate in various charitable and social charities,
and care for disadvantaged communities.
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Report of the Directors
EEETWRE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Great World Company
Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) submit their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s performance, business activities and
development is included in the Chairman’s Statement on pages
4 to 5 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
10 to 20 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page
66.

The Directors do not propose dividend for the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity on page 70 respectively.

The Company has no balance of distributable reserves available
for distribution to the owners of the Company as at 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in investment property of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last
five financial years are summarised on page 191.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased
or sold any of its shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence and
has been reviewed by the remuneration committee.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined by the remuneration committee, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out below and in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE OPTIONS

2012 Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 August 2012
(the “2012 Share Option Scheme”), which is valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on 3 August 2012, upon
the termination of the share option scheme adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 August 2002.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant options to selected persons to subscribe for shares in
the Company as incentives or rewards for their contributions
or potential contributions to the Group. The Board may, at
its discretion, invite (i) any director or any employee of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity; (i)
any holder of legal or beneficial title of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any invested entity; (i) any
business or joint venture partner, contractor, subcontractor,
agent, sub-agent of the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any
person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
services to any member of the Group or any invested entity; and
(v) any supplier of goods or services, customer or distributor
of the Group or any invested entity, to take up options to
subscribe for the shares in the Company for a consideration of
HK$10 per each lot of share options granted.

The option period shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant of option. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised. HK$10 is payable on
acceptance of an option within 28 days from the date of grant.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the 2012 Share Option Scheme or the date of
approval by the shareholders in general meeting where the limit
is refreshed. The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
individual in any twelve-month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant unless approval from Company’s shareholders has
been obtained. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company
or any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the
total number of shares in issue or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.
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Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by the
Directors, and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares. The maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and yet to be exercised under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from
time to time.

On 13 May 2022, the Company granted options under the 2012
Share Option Scheme to certain eligible persons to subscribe
for a total of 23,000,000 ordinary shares in the share capital of
the Company at the exercise price of HK$1 per share.

Movements of the share options granted under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme are as follows:
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yangiang
Mr. Gu Zhonghai

Mr. Zhao Xinyan

Non-executive Director
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Koon Yan

Ms. Zhao Yongmei

Mr. Jing Baoli

Biographical details of directors
Brief biographical details of the existing directors are set out on
pages 6 to 8 of this annual report.

Rotation

Pursuant to Article 117 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Zhang Yangiang and Mr. Chung Koon Yan will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director
has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of two years and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of one year; all appointment letters are
subject to renewal with early termination clause in accordance
with the removal, retirement and re-election provisions of
articles of association of the Company.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service
contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the employing company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts or arrangements subsisting which a
Director was materially interested and which was significant in
relation to the business of the Group at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
the underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the Directors and
chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), required to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or which were naotified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

BE RS

RZZEZ=F=A=+—H8 BFgAK
NEEBITERABRARBSKEEMIE
BrE(EERELSRBERAI(ESR
BREEMI ) EEXVER) 2 % 1h -« fREEIR D &
BE5 A IRIEE S M HE IR FEXVED
FINESHD ARG ARG MR
EEEEE(BRESENARAEETH
A BRIBEE S KB EIRHIZZFAE AR
BRERBEA ZEDHER) B AK
NAIBEES LB EIRAIEIHFFEZ
R SiBIEGEM ET AR BIEE5.46
567K Me AN F) MBS FT 2 S
FEEMT :

RAEQXTAROREEARGIFEZRE

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each and the underlying shares
BREBEIEBIZEERRORERERGEE

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Personal Corporate Total number share capital of
Name of Director interest interest of shares the Company
EARAT
ERITRA
BExEps BARER DRER R4 B L SIER
Mr. Zhao Xinyan 1,750,000 47,378,000 49,128,000 14.88%
(Note 1)
HETRAE (Hat1)
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky - 33,792,000 33,792,000 10.23%
(Note 2)
REBRT (Hiit2)
Notes: Kiat -
1. These shares are held by Win Bless Limited of which Mr. Zhao 1. ZERMBEBERARSGAE - M

Xinyan is the beneficial owner.

2. These shares are held by Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. of
which Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky is the beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the shares, the underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the Directors and
chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), required to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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2. %% 7 B Gold City Assets Holdin
Ltd 78 » MREXEL L /EZ AR
wHEB A °

B ENXHEEEN RZBE-_=ZF=A
—t+—H BEBENKARAEBITHRAR
MERNARQ TS EE R EE(EER
&5 M EIEIRPIEXVER) 2 Bt - AEEA
M REETR  BEAREBES MBS K
BIEXVERE 7 M B8 B A& AN &) M B
REHZEEIER(BIEESNANRE
ZITRABRBEZE S KBS GROIZEFR
R BREERE 2 ERKER) A
AR BBIEES K HE IEDI5 35215
FEZEZMA - iREGEM R Al
FHA6E5.67IKE e AN A KT
CHERRER o

9

S
=
=}

’

N

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH

55



Report of the Directors
EEETWRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was any of
the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives (including their spouses
or children under 18 years of age) of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has taken and maintained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance throughout the year, providing appropriate
cover for certain legal actions which may be brought against its
directors and officers.

INTEREST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, save as disclosed below, so far is
known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company,
no person (other than a Director or a chief executive of the
Company) has an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which will fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO
or, who is directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstance at general meetings of any member of
the Group.

Long position in shares of the Company

ESWBERG 2EN

B LR BEEI  RARIHEMB AT
REREMEERE2EERZH - &
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AN o BEEAT ] A ERAR FIR D N 48 Y
Binr o B RIEEHF M EIEFIEXV
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SRR AR RIRIE B A M B E 150155336
KBEFEEz Bl zERSER  E
B EEREWNEEF T EEAIBRT
RAEETRKEARBREARERRZ
B RIAR AN E{ES % A BIAERS -

RAERTARBZRE

Approximate
percentage of

Total number of the issued

ordinary shares share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of HK$0.1 each  of the Company

BREE ERRAT

0182 BRITRA

RREE B 513/ RmME EEREH ZBABA

Win Bless Limited Beneficial owner/Corporate 47,378,000 14.35%
EBARAR 6 NN (Note 1)
(Hit1)

Mr. Zhao Xinyan Interest in a controlled corporation 47,378,000 14.35%
BT E R EEER (Note 1)
(Hit1)

Beneficial owner/Personal 1,750,000 0.53%

EalaA/EA

Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. Beneficial owner/Corporate 33,792,000 10.23%
Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. ExlAAN/RF (Note 2)
(Hit2)

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky Interest in a controlled corporation 33,792,000 10.23%
REBTL RIPLERER (Note 2)
(Hit2)

Ms. Lin Shunping Beneficial owner/Personal 19,900,000 6.03%
WIEE 2+ ERBEEA/EA (Note 3)
(Hi3)
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Report of the Directors
EEERE
Notes:

1. These shares are held by Win Bless Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong of which the issued share capital is
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhao Xinyan, an executive Director of
the Company.

2. These shares are held by Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd., a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands of which the
issued share capital is beneficially owned by Ms. Ng Mui King,
Joky, a non-executive Director of the Company.

3. These shares were issued to Ms. Lin Shunping on 27 March
2020, pursuant to the convertible notes issued by the Company
on 30 March 2015.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any of their respective
close associates that competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group or, of any other
conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have
with the Group during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to Group’s 5 largest customers accounted for
approximately 37% of the Group’s total sales for the year
and sales to the Group’s largest customer amounted to
approximately 10%.

The Group has 5 suppliers who accounted for 63% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year and purchases from the
Group’s largest supplier amounted to approximately 20% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year.

At any time during the year, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in any of the
Group’s major customers or suppliers.

wizt

1. RSBRMHBEEBERARFER  HAR
FREMAZ AT HE#HITHRAH
RABRTESHEHOTRLEBERHES

2. #Z % P& A Gold City Assets Holdings
Ltd. 5 HA—BRABRELEED
iz AR - EEBITRABAAE
EMITEERER L LEREAR -

3. BRERHR-_ZE-_ZTF="A=-++HR
BARARN-_E—RAFE=A=1+H%1T
R RTINS IR ES 1T TARIES Z2 - o

BEER

BEEMRM  AFEER - BBEFHA
NEERBRR(EERGEM ETRAN) 3K
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Report of the Directors
EEETWRE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events after the year are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited.

The term of office of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will
expire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution
for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Mui King, Joky
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Independent Auditors’ Report
AR lE: )

M gt E R RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 66 to 190, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net
loss of approximately HK$67,030,000 for the year ended 31
March 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$60,840,000.
As stated in Note 3, these events or conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in Note 3, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Net realisable value of properties held for sale
Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

At 31 March 2023, the Group has properties held for sale
located in the People’s Republic of China with the carrying
amounts of approximately HK$71,427,000.

The properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value on an individual property basis. Net realisable value is
estimated at the actual or estimated selling price less estimated
costs to be incurred and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sales. The determination of net realisable value
with reference to the valuation performed by the independent
qualified professional firm of valuers require management
judgement.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s

determination of the valuation of properties held for sale
including but not limited to:

evaluating whether the development progress for each
project was consistent with the development plan;

e evaluating the competency, capability and objectivity of the
valuers;

e assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions based on our knowledge of the
relevant industry and using our valuation experts;

e discussing with the independent external valuer and
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the business and industry; and

e checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used.

We found the carrying amounts of properties held for sale were
supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

[ NP4
,%/T = ,Eiﬁ:llﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

Revenue Wz

Cost of sales SHERAR

Gross profit EA

Other gains (loss) Hiblzs (E18)

Provision for impairment loss B W AR SR S B At FE M I
recognised in respect of R BERERE -
trade and other receivables, net FEE

Loss arising from changes in fair value 4418 7 A BRI H B R A S
less costs to sell of biological assets E4 2 EiE

Loss arising from change in fair value of & ¥¥E N THEZBELN
investment property =i

Impairment loss on properties BEHEMENRE
held for sale B8

Selling and distribution costs HHE R D KA

Administrative and other THEEMEBERY
operating expenses

Finance costs AR

Loss before tax BRETAIE B

Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (Ax)

Loss for the year rEEEBSE

Loss for the year UTEIEREE
attributable to: -
Owners of the Company RAFHEBA
Non-controlling interests AR R

Loss per share BRER

Basic and diluted ERK#E

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iF FET FET
5 162,530 323,634
(149,078) (288,136)

13,452 35,498
6 561 (1,158)
(6,983) (20,024)
19 (2,445) (4,059
16 (9,624) (121)
(15,632) -
(2,338) (5,283)

(46,198) (68,417)

8 (254) (693)
9 (69,461) (49,257)
10 2,431 (152)
(67,030) (49,409

(58,164) (41,082)

(8,866) (8,327)

(67,030) (49,409

HK cents HK cents

Bl B

13 (17.61) (12.46)
BEFT P 5T R ek F4R G B S 3k 2 4R Ak BT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBREkEMEEmERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year REFEEIE (67,030) (49,409)
Other comprehensive AEFEMEE(EE),
(loss)/income for the year WA
ltems that may be reclassified HigsedmHyA
subsequently to profit or loss: BmIEE -
— Reclassification of cumulative —EHHENEFIN
translation reserve upon R IHRE
disposal of foreign fEE
operations - (306)
- Exchange differences —REBINEREEZ
arising on translation of bfE 54, = RE
foreign operations (10,960) 6,664
Other comprehensive (loss)/income AN [E Hih 2 mE (i)
for the year WA (10,960) 6,358
Total comprehensive loss AFEE2HEEIBARE
for the year (77,990) (43,051)
Total comprehensive loss DT ELZHEEISEEE -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABHERA (62,231) (37,074)
Non-controlling interests FEVEAR M (15,759) (5,977)
(77,990) (43,051)
tHRERERAT B -—E=FFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R 3R

At 31 March 2023
RZE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
=== —E-F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HiaE FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 14 6,282 8,333
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRR 15 138 230
Investment property REE 16 48,639 62,995
Biological assets EWEE 19 28,934 34,808
83,993 106,366
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale HEIELEME 17 71,427 92,741
Inventories FE 18 1,820 394
Trade and other receivables JFE LA B X K2 EL At E U R TR 20 60,177 106,209
Financial assets at fair value BAVER ABER
through profit or loss SREE 21 1,622 8,309
Cash and bank deposits Re RIBTTER 22 10,882 19,339
145,928 226,992
Current liabilities REIEE
Trade and other payables FETBR 7 N B b FE (< 5RIE 23 (63,443) (69,042)
Contract liabilities EHBaE 24 (8,452) (22,112)
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFERTABER
through profit or loss SRaE 21 - (3,556)
Lease liabilities MEaE 26 (1,132) (1,617)
Amount due to a shareholder TERN —Z AR FNIE 25 (69,414) (69,414)
Amounts due to directors H‘EH%%%’KIE 25 (8,957) (7,172)
Amounts due to related companies  FE{fRE:E A Al IE 25 (54,338) (58,743)
Amounts due to JE A~ FE4E HXT‘EE%’X
non-controlling interests 25 (1,032) (1,015)
(206,768) (232,671)
Net current liabilities REBEEFEHE (60,840) (5,679)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible note EIE ) E S 27 (3,162) (3,007)
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 (105) (1,267)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIERE 28 (16,412) (20,365)
(19,679) (24,639)
Net assets EEFEE 3,474 76,048
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e R AR L 3R

At 31 March 2023
RZTE-_=F=A=+—H

2023 2022
=== —Eo—F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HiaE FET FET
Capital and reserves AR e
Share capital A& 2 29 33,027 33,027
Reserves s (46,272) 10,543
Equity attributable to owners ARATHEE ABLER
of the Company (13,245) 43,570
Non-controlling interests FEE RS 16,719 32,478
3,474 76,048
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised #RAE M BHRRKLEFTE@N T - =F <
for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2023 and are signed on A —+ L Bz RFETIE - WA T
its behalf by: ATREEE
Zhao Xinyan Zhang Yanqiang
T R
Director Director
EFE EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated &P 5T A Z S48 B i 2k 2 AKX 36

financial statements. 5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SERBEE

n‘/-ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

A1 April 2021

Total comprehensive (loss)/

income for the year
Subscription of shares
Disposal of subsicliaries
(Note 33)

Issuance of convertiole note

(Note 27)

N-F--EMA-A

KEERA(ER)/
BAEE

ERD

HERHBAA
(Wi33)

BIAREE
(Wiiz27)

Recognition of defered tax ~ REfTAIARZEE
upon issuance of convertble  FEETETE

note

At 31 March 2022 and
at 1 Apri 2022

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

Grant of share option

Forfeiture of share option

At 31 March 2023

i
=T-BRR
“5-"#MA-R

KERRAFREE

AR

AR

R-8-24:7
=t-§

NG IUN

Convertible Share Non-

Share Share notesequity  options Translation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total

TeREE  ERE ¥R
Rx  RiEE BERE ff EXER RiER It i &3t
HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000 — HKS000  HKB000  HKS000  HK$000
At Tt TEr TEr TEr TEr TR TAr TEn
32921 280678 - 2,303 (1495 (238592 75,421 B206 13677
- - - - 4,008 (108 (37,074 (Ir7) (43051
500 4310 - - - - 4810 - 4810
- - - - - - - 199 199
- - 49 - - - 4% - 4%
- - (81) - - - (81) - (81)
33021 284988 413 2303 2513 (219,674) 43570 32478 76,048
- - - - (4067) (58,164  (62.231) (15759  (77,990)
- - - 5416 - - 5416 - 5416
- - - (2,303) - 2,303 - - -
33021 284,988 43 5,416 (1554) (335,535 (13,245 16,719 3474
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SEHETMNER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —EoF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
et FET FET
Cash flows from operating REXBMBzEHERE
activities
Loss before tax BrA AT EE (69,461) (49,257)
Adjustments for: BATIEE A :
Bank interest income HRITHLEWA 6 (18) (99)
Finance costs BB AR 8 254 693
Loss on written off of property, M - B KR i
plant and equipment 28 - 55
Depreciation on property, VI R REREITE
plant and equipment 9 84 1,451
Depreciation on right-of-use FREEETE
assets 9 1,539 1,701
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz W (6,761) (165)
Fair value change on financial BRAES A=
instruments at fair value TRTANAFEE
through profit or loss 6 6,454 1,426
Loss arising from change in WEMENFEE
fair value of investment property EEREE 16 9,624 121
Loss arising from changes in Y EER RN T ER
fair value less costs to sell HEKAEBELD
of biological assets 18 19 2,445 4,059
Provision for impairment FEREEIBRE
loss on inventories 15,632 -
Provision of impairment Tk L BR 0 e LA e Uk
loss recognised in respect of TIERERHREEE
trade and other receivables, net B - FRE 6,983 20,024
Equity settled share-based AR RGN RER 2
payment IR 5,416 -
Operating cash flows before LEECEFA L
movements in working capital KEIRERE (27,809) (19,991)
Increase in properties held for sale  #H{EHEWE 2 1E 0 - (122)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  EEfZ(3E0) (1,426) 237
Decrease/(increase) EYEERD,(380)
in biological assets 581 (1,631)
Increase in financial instruments at A F(ET ABZED
fair value through profit or loss ST B (6,667) (5,849)
Decrease in trade and other JFE YA BR 3R N E b FE Uk 2k T8
receivables B 34,774 36,658
Increase in trade and other payables [E1~BR 3k M H fth fE T 3018
18 4,508 28,497
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERY (12,029) (14,382)
Net cash (used in)/generated REE(FTA), /g
from operating activities REFE (8,068) 23,417
tHRERERAT B -—E=FFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/-ﬁ IE@/)“JE%

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z - =—F=-A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from investing
activities

Interest received on bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash outflow from disposal of
subsidiaries

Net cash generated from/
(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing
activities

Proceeds from subscription of
shares

Issuance of convertible note

Interest paid

Repayments of lease liabilities

Repayment to related companies

Advance from/(repayment to)
non-controlling interests

Advance from directors

Repayment to third parties

Net cash generated from/
(used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year
Effect of foreign currency
exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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REFHE

MEXBHREZRERE
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REFE

REeRBAEFENZ
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FAZRERREEEY
INEERBE 2 E

FRZAERREEEY

BT
A

Notes

Hia

33

BERTF iz AR A

e

2023 2022
—E-=F - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
18 99

(14) (166)

(2) (1,766)

2 (1,833)

- 4,810

- 3,500

- (513)

(1,649) (1,657)

(17) (1,787)

16 (8,921)
1,785 109

- (7,844)

135 (12,303)
(7,931) 9,281
19,339 12,439

(526) (2,381)
10,882 19,339
B 7% R 2k 2 ALK D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

—REHR
WARERBRAB([ARF )R

Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”)
is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company’s
registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands, British West Indies
and its principal place of business is room 1202, 12/F,
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong. Win Bless Limited (“Win bless”) and Gold City Assets
Holdings Ltd. (“Gold City”) are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. Win Bless is beneficially owned by Mr.
Zhao Xinyan, an executive director of the Company, and
Gold City is beneficial owned by Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, a
non-executive director of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with
the Company, the “Group”) are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
otherwise indicated.

EHETMUIREREZBER A
A HRDREEBBERXIMER
AEl(TBRFT)GEM LTI » &R A
FEff = R A i A P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman lIslands, British West

Indies &2 L = 2 & ¥ H /& B &

7B B35k B A 0 12181202F ©
EEBRAR([EE]) &Gold City
Assets Holdings Ltd. ([ Gold City | )
BARNREERRK - EBHAQA
WITESHMTELEEREES M
Gold City R R R FIFEHMITEF R =

mZtTERHE -

ARBIZEBEHR/REER - &
RV S
B ) 2 EEXHHNES P HRE

MEBLARCGERARAR

BEE39 ©

HAEMBBRRIDUARRRZYGEE
wETIETDZ2Y  BAEHEH
EIN ABETEHAEREDR

Fa(FErTl) -

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first

time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual

period beginning on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and financial positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= + >

ARE IR R AR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHE-_T-_=ZF=ZA=1+—HIHFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts'

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies!
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction!

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS R AR Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z - =—F=-A=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Going Concern Assessment

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$67,030,000 (2022: HK$49,409,000) for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$60,840,000 (2022: HK$5,679,000).

The above events or conditions may cast significant doubt
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. Certain measures have been
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the
Group’s financial position which include, but are not limited
to, the following:

() the Group will apply stringent cost control in
administrative expenses and capital expenditures;

(i) substantial shareholders of the Company agreed to
provide financial support for the continuing operation
of the Group;

(i) the Group has obtained consent from the relevant

lenders not to demand for immediate repayment of
such payables;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z - =F=-A=+—HItFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Going Concern Assessment (continued)

(iv) the Group will issue convertible note with aggregate
principal amount of HK$31,950,000, which further
details are disclosed in Note 43; and

(v) the Group has been taking active measures to collect
trade and other receivables through various channels
to improve operating cash flows and its financial
position.

However, the appropriateness of the going concern basis
of accounting is dependent on the assumption that (i)
the management of the Group will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above; (i) the Group
is able to obtain continuous external financial support
from substantial shareholder; (i) the Group will be able to
improve its business operations; (iv) the Group will be able
to complete the Subscription (as defined in Note 43); and
(v) the Group is able to generate sufficient cash flow and
implement exercises to control costs.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their realisable values, to
provide for financial liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, investment properties and biological assets
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e EHmRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries without change of control

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries without change of control
(continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform
the related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered
unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant
cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date
is on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after reassessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contract with customers (continued)
Principal versus agent consideration

Determining whether revenue of the Group should be
reported gross or net is based on a continuing assessment
of various factors. When determining whether the Group is
acting as the principal or agent in offering goods or services
to the customer, the Group needs to first identify who
controls the specified goods or services before they are
transferred to the customer. The Group is a principal and
obtains control any of the following: (i) a good or another
asset from the other party that the Group then transfers
to the customer; (i) a right to a service to be performed by
the other party, which gives the Group the ability to direct
that party to provide the service to the customer on the
Group’s behalf; (i) a good or service from the other party
that the Group then combines with other goods or services
in providing the specified good or service to the customer.
If control is unclear, when the Group is primarily obligated
in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk, has latitude in
establishing prices and selecting suppliers, or has several
but not all of these indicators, the Group records revenues
on a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group records the net
amount earned as commissions from products sold or
services provided.

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of
the Group and the agents in rendering the relevant services
and concluded that the Group has the primarily obligation
in rendering the services and has the sole latitude in
establishing prices. Accordingly, the Group records the
revenue driven through agents on a gross basis, and the
commissions paid to those agents are records as sale
commission as included in selling and marketing expenses.

Sales of forestry products and information technology
products

Revenue from sales of forestry products and information
technology products is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customers and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the product and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contract with customers (continued)
Provision of mobile advertising media services
Revenue from provision of mobile advertising media
services is recognised over time using output method for
which the advertisements are displayed.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment expense

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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e EHmRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment expenses granted to consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
property that is measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such property is presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale, except for freehold
land, which is always presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_Z_=—F=A=1+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment, including bearer plant
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The principal rates used for this purpose are as follows:

10% to 25% or shorter of the
lease term
5% to 25%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Bearer plant

10% to 25%
20% to 33%
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

S

3.

TEC=F-A=1+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Bearer plants are a living plant that is used in the production
or supply of agricultural produce and are expected to
bear produce for more than one period, and have remote
likelihood of being sold as agricultural produce, except for
incidental scrap sales. Bearer plants are accounted for in
the same way as self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment. Depreciation is provided for in respect of
bearer plants when they are in the location and condition
necessary to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management, which is the point of maturity of
bearer plants. Bearer plants are measured at accumulated
cost less any impairment before maturity. When the bearer
plants are mature, they are measured at cost, less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment,
with changes recognised in profit or loss.

Bearer plant is immature until the produce can be
commercially harvested.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at their
fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of

investment property is included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

The cost of properties held for sale is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs which
comprise all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
costs incurred in bringing the properties held for sale to
their present location attributable to unsold units.

Net realisable value is estimated by the management,
based on prevailing market conditions, which represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Biological assets

Biological assets consist of the growing produce before
harvest on trees. Trees are bearer plants and are
accounted for as property, plant and equipment (see
above).

The growing produce on trees are growing crops of the
Group on the cultivation bases. Biological assets are
measured at fair value less costs to sell on initial recognition
and at the end of each reporting period. The fair value of
biological assets is determined based on the current market
price with reference to the species, growing condition, cost
incurred and expected yield of the crops.

The agricultural produce is initially measured at fair value
less costs to sell at the time of harvest. The fair value
of agricultural produce is determined based on market
prices in the local market. The fair value less costs to sell
at the time of harvest is deemed as the cost of agricultural
produce for further processing.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED GEEAHMBRRCEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT SRR (E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Biological assets (continued) EYEEE)

The gain or loss arising on initial recognition of biological
assets at fair value less costs to sell and from a change
in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets shall be
included in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Biological assets that are expected to be realised in the
next harvest within the next twelve months are classified
under current assets.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative standalone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_T-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of equipment and office premises
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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e EHmRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

WHESMBRR 2 EERTE
BETBRE)

Leases (continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBERERBA(E)
Right-of-use assets (continued) (FAEEE (&)

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e EHmRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

WHESMBRR 2 EERTE
BETBRE)

Leases (continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessor (continued) KEFERBHBA(E)
Refundable rental deposits AREHEZS

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CRELE e

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and loss” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets (including trade and
receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and bank
deposits) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at the end
of each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the end of the reporting
period as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators

of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into

account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly: (continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e EHmRME
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

e a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, amounts due to directors, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
amount due to a shareholder) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is held for trading.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T

3.

——E-A=+—BILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Convertible notes

The component parts of the convertible notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A
conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
convertible notes equity reserve until the conversion option
is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in
convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to share
capital and share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible
note, the balance recognised in convertible notes equity
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.
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BE_E_=F=A=t—ALFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on
hand and demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed arising on an acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viil a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and a related
party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are become receivable.
Such grants are presented under “other gains”.
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BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Fair value of biological assets

The biological assets are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value is determined based on either the
market-determined prices at the end of the reporting
periods adjusted with reference to the species,
age, growing condition and costs incurred to reflect
differences in characteristic and/or stages of growth
of biological assets. Any change in the estimates may
affect the fair value of biological assets significantly.
The independent external valuer and management
review the assumptions and estimates periodically
to identify any significant change in the fair value of
biological assets.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had biological
assets of approximately HK$28,934,000 (2022:
HK$34,808,000). Details of the fair value of biological
assets are disclosed in notes 19 and 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on aging of debtors and
their industry as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At the end of each reporting period, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value for properties held for sale
In determining whether allowances should be made
for the Group’s properties held for sale, the Group
considers the current market environment and the
estimated market value less estimated costs to
completion and estimated costs necessary to make
the sale. An allowance is made if the estimated market
value is less than the carrying amount. If the actual
net realisable value on properties under development
is less than expected as a result of change in market
condition and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, may result in material provision for
impairment loss.
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BE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HIFE
4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(iv) Fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on
the market values, being the estimated amount for
which property could be exchanged on the date of
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in
an arm'’s length transaction or the valuation performed
by an independent valuer. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has based on method of valuation which
involves certain estimates and assumptions. In relying
on the valuation report, the management has exercised
their judgements and is satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.
Should there be any changes in assumptions due
to change of market conditions, the fair value of the
investment property will be adjusted accordingly.
Changes to these assumptions would result in
changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment property is HK$48,639,000 (2022:
HK$62,955,000). The determination of the fair value
involves certain assumptions of market conditions
which are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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5. REVENUE
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Provision of mobile advertising media

services

Sales of goods HEEm

Revenue from contracts with REEZFEHHRE
customers

Rental income e A

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

Provision of mobile advertising media IRt /& & A2 AR
services
Sales of goods HESEm
— forestry products —MEEm
— information technology products — BB ER
Timing of revenue recognition U 225 7 5 B T
Over time il 2 FRF P
At a point in time Nk

BB ESEERS

5. W=
W oM
2023 2022
e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
142,228 299,784
19,162 22,511
161,390 322,295
1,140 1,339
162,530 323,634
REEFENNEED T
2023 2022
—EZZF T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FET
142,228 299,784
18,316 22,507
846 4
161,390 322,295
142,228 299,784
19,162 22,511
161,390 322,295
HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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5. REVENUE (continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue such that the Group does
not disclose information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfied the remaining obligations
under the contracts as all contract works have an original
expected duration of one year or less.

6. OTHER GAINS/(LOSS)

Government grant (note (i)
Bank interest income
Change in fair value of financial 1% “$Tﬁ.ﬁr)\?@
instruments at fair value through I AR
profit or loss $ﬁm§b
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR Z W
Other income HA A

BT 8 B (AT aE()
HRITHEHA

Note:

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
government grants of approximately HK$360,000 (2022:
nil) in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies which related
to Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong Kong
government.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of both business lines (products and
services) and geographical area. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s most senior management for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following four reportable
segments.

The Group’s operations and reportable segments are as
follows:

Intelligent advertising and  Provides mobile advertising
railroad media business media services for

intelligent advertising and
property market customers
in the PRC, railroad
magazine distribution and
e-commerce platform
management, advertising
and product sales services

Agricultural, forestry and Cultivation of forestry and
consumer products wood material products,
business Chinese herbal medicine

ingredients and specialty
agricultural by-products,
sales of processed and
prepackaged food/
consumer products

Supply-chain business Sales of industrial, information
technology and other
products as well as
related R&D and product
manufacturing activities

Property business Property investment and
development, operating and
managing residential and
commercial properties
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7.

——H=-A=+—HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately, for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and assessment of the Group’s
performance. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment results, which is a measure of adjusted
loss before tax. The adjusted loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except that
gain on bargain purchase, unallocated finance costs,
unallocated selling and distribution costs and unallocated
administrative and other operating expenses are excluded
from such measurement.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
unallocated corporate assets.

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
income tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, convertible note
and unallocated corporate liabilities.

These segments are managed separately as they belong to
different industries and require different operating systems
and strategies. There were no sales or other transactions
between those reportable segments. Information regarding
the Group’s reportable segments is presented below:
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_T-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. FEERE)
(a) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities (a) 2PWz= 18 - BEE - BfF
and other selected financial information R E MR EMEER
2023 —E-=HF

Intelligent  Agricultural,
advertising forestry and

and railroad  consumer Supply-
media products chain Property
business business business business Total

EWEE  BHER
% RAES fUE
R %35 55 0EER 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET  FER TR TET  FER

Revenue from external REMPEP 2 W

customers 142,228 18,316 846 1,140 162,530
Total (loss)/profit of reportable 7] 235 EhHY

segments (B1)/ afleE (17,301) (15,775) (806) (21,691) (55,573)
Total assets of reportable ERHHEERE

segments 69,267 39,865 353 120,296 229,781
Total liabllities of reportable AT 2R B ELE

segments (59,162) (1,684) - (73,946) (134,792)
Amounts included in the FAENHBRANH

SNEE
measure of segment proft ~ BEBENEE -
or loss or segment assets:

Bank interest income RATHEHA 15 - - 3 18
Depreciation of property, v ER Y G

plant and equipment ne& (59) @) - 3) (65)
Depreciation of right-of-use  (EREEENE

assets (731) - - - (731)
Loss arising from changesin 4 ¥ &ERHATE

fair value less costs to sell  EBYFHERA

of biological assets EENES - (2,445) - - (2,445)
Loss on fair value change on ¥ BYE A TEE

investment property EENER - - - (9,624) (9,624)
Provision for impairment loss ~ BEEUEEZ R £ it

recognised in respect of FEMIERERE

trade and other receivables,  FI{EEEEE -

net FE (6,954) (29) - - (6,983)

Provision for impairment loss gt {EH EMERED
recognised in respect of RREBERE -
properties held for sale, net ~ B%8 - - - (15,632) (15,632)
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BE_ZT-_=F="A=+—HIFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEERE)
(@) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities (a) o= Bm EE - BEF

and other selected financial information (continued)

REMBREMBER(E)

2022 —EoF
Intelligent  Agricultural,
advertising  forestry and
and railroad consumer Supply-
media products chain Property
business business business business Total
BHES BHER
RE% REEmM ftREsE
Rk % 5% EES @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET FET
Revenue from external KENPELZ e
customers 299,784 22,507 4 1,339 323,634
Total (loss)/profit of reportable AT 25 EhkY
segments (B1B)/ mfleE (11,169) (30,164) (257) 8 (41,582)
Total assets of reportable ERHHEERE
segments 124,025 42,127 88 156,630 322,870
Total liabilities of reportable  AJ2HHHE ELE
segments (84,285) (2,504) 8) (65,4006) (152,203)
Amounts included in the SENBEEI DT
measure of segment proft ~ BEBENEE -
or loss or segment assets:
Bank interest income RITHBHA 85 12 - 2 99
Depreciation of property, W% - BEREE
plant and equipment neE 8 (1,272) - - (1,280)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEERE
assets (788) (84) - - (872)
Loss arising from changesin 4 ¥ BEHATE
fair value less costs to sell B SRR
of biological assets FYELNER - (4,059) - - (4,059)
Loss on fair value change on R EMELFEE
investment property EENERE - - - (121) (121)
Provision for impairment loss ~ BEEEUEE R £ it
recognised in respect of YRR
trade and other receivables, B/ 1B -
net R (19,520) (13) (491) - (20,024)

/}/fﬁtf EE/J;F/ML@J%F&?E1§%
TEQF&%% TR 5 K 7t

Note: Additions of non-current assets consist of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue U &
Total revenue for reportable BEE Farsir e
segments
Consolidated revenue e W
Profit or loss B

Total loss for reportable segments

A 2% 0 AR EE AR

Unallocated corporate income RoBREFEWA
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEEME
Consolidated loss before tax RARRTIRIEE
Assets BE
Total assets for reportable AI2|O I EELE
segments
Unallocated corporate assets ROMEEEE
Consolidated total assets IREEERE
Liabilities aE
Total liabilities for reportable AIZ2Wmo I e EEE
segments
Unallocated corporate liabilities AoBRTEEEE
Consolidated total liabilities meRGaRE

()

Geographical Information

Since over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets
were located in the PRC and over 90% of the Group’s
revenue were generated from services provided in
the PRC or goods were delivered to the PRC, no
geographical segment information in accordance with
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is presented.

PEER(E)
(b) ATEHoHBKE B - EE
REaBEzHER
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
162,530 323,634
162,530 323,634
(55,573) (41,582)
7,121 169
(21,009) (7,844)
(69,461) (49,257)
229,781 322,870
140 10,488
229,921 333,358
(134,792) (152,203)
(91,655) (105,107)
(226,447) (257,310)

(c) HEER
A7 7N £ @ i 3B 90% K 3 it
HEEMNARFELRAEEER
90% H) U A FE HE A AR BB (A9
REXIRFERENER - &
WESINFABBHEREE
RIESRAZE 7 Fiminm »H & &
o
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HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. ZEER(E)
(d) Information about major customers (d ERAXEEFZER
Revenue from customers for the years ended 31 Hz 2= rR-_ZE_—
March 2023 and 2022 contributing over 10% of the A=+ —BIEFEMLAREE
total revenue of the Group are as follows: AU EE10% A F 7z BRI
T~
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Reporting segments HK$°000 HK$'000
A2 FET FET
Customer A Intelligent Advertising and
Railroad Media business N/A1 47,669
EPH HeeEE MR EEE TERA
1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over T AR EEAEEANENE
10% of the total revenue of the Group. BATEEIB10% ©
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WEMRA
2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAETT FET
Imputed interests on convertible note  RI AR ZHEHE T B
(Note 27) (Hiaz27) 155 1
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFN S 99 179
Interest on other borrowings HaEEFR S - 513
254 693
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_T-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. KRBiAIEE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/ B BTG ((TA) AT I
(crediting): BigER
2023 2022
—E-=F =B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Auditors’ remuneration for audit ZEANEN & — 8RS
services 550 600
Staff costs (including directors’ BINAN(BIEESHE)
remuneration) (Note 11) (H1az11)
— salaries and other benefits —Hre REMBER 9,142 15,409
— equity settled share-based —EREEURNDRERZ
payment expenses RRFEX 5,416 -
— contributions to defined contribution  — TEZE At 2T B =%
schemes 786 1,341
15,344 16,750
Cost of inventories sold FrEFEMA 18,284 24,752
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WE REREITE (Hit)
equipment (note) 84 1,451
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE(HZ)
(note) 1,539 1,701
Loss on written off of property, VI - RE R EEE 2 B8
plant and equipment - 55
Repair and maintenance (note) HE RIRE (HTiE) 11,979 22
Research and development (note) e (H7az) 9,777 28,858
Short-term lease payments MHHE R 38 378
Gross rental income from investment &YW EEL AR S WA LLZE
properties (1,140) (1,339
Less: direct operating expenses arising 5 : FERNELEHEE KA
from investment properties WEMEEENERE
that generated rental income ERY
during the year 266 323
Less: direct operating expenses arising & : R RKEEHE S WAL
from investment properties REMEEENERE
that did not generate rental KBRS
income during the year 935 954
61 (62)
Note: These items were included in the “administrative expenses”. BT EEIE R B EE (TEE S A o
tHRERERAT B -—E=FFRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M A

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

Deferred taxation EIER1E
(Credited) charged during

the year (Note 28)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC

Enterprise Income Tax had been made as the Group had
no assessable profit.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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AEE(HER) T (H728)

2023 2022
=== B —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R EmERMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE T -_=F=A=+—HILtFE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (continued) 10. FIBH(ER) B (&)

P MR MM AR AT and BB R G EREME
AR A F] which principally engaged in forestry cultivation,
research and application of agricultural technologies are
entitled to tax exemption.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau
of the PRC and effective from 2008 onwards, Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Information Technology Company Ltd engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim
an additional tax deduction amounting to 75% of the
qualified research and development expenses incurred
in determining its assessable tax profits for that year.
According to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by
the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in 2018, which would be
effective to 2023.

The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

BT Bl 5 1R

Loss before tax

Tax at domestic income tax rate
Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

BERTBBA Z B

Tax effect of expense not deductible A HIFE S ~ i &

for tax purpose
Super deduction of research and
development expenditure

FIEE I X VB REHIRR

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R HERT:IBEIE 2 TR fg &
REFRET(ER)FH

Income tax (credit) expenses
for the year

i P MBI E R AR M
BEREMEEERMEERAREE
REEXRE EERMHTELE
A EFRERBRES -

ﬁf—ﬁm¢ll%ﬁ%@%%%
HE_ZTF )\Eiixﬁlﬂ’]ﬂlﬁﬁ
YERRESREBERA ﬁ%ﬁ
%&ﬁ%%@’ﬁ%$%%%ﬁ%
B LEEERNETEERV G
NMOFEEENARERPERW
75%  REFEHERRBEAR-F
—\FEMEOFHIERBER - B
BEYHE—_T_=F -

AEEZHEHRARGEARERA

% E N FTS mmfﬁﬁzmﬁ

BREGATEIBVES BRI T -
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=

HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
(69,461) (49,257)
(16,142) (10,836)
(1,764) 811)
6,089 6,796
(2,444) (6,843)
11,830 11,846
(2,431) 152

HARERBERAE —F==—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R R M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

S
11.

—EC=F=A=+T-HIEEE
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Directors’ remuneration:
— fees
— salaries and other allowances
— retirement benefits scheme
contributions

Others employees
(excluding directors):
— salaries and other benefits
— equity settled share-based
payment expenses
— contributions to defined
contribution schemes

1. EERFABEX

BEFEHM -
—HE
*iﬁ%&ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ

RIREFEHEIHER

Hivfg 8
(TBREES) :
—¥#Hre MEMER
—RmEE AR RERZ
BEGE

— ERRHRETEIHE
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2023 2022
—EB-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,990 1,917

- 7

44 77

2,034 2,001
7,152 13,485
5,416 -
742 1,264
13,310 14,749




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 1. EERABEX(8)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=H
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant BIEEBGEM F TR BN E B
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and Hong Kong NEEPIIFEENFEAEENE
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: (N
2023 —EZ=F
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
e
RHEAM RIKBA
ok =13 TR st

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
- FET FET FET

Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Zhang Yancjiang BRAE: e 600 - 18 618
Mr. Gu Zhonghal BRSLE 550 - - 550
Mr. Zhao Xinyan HITOTEE 240 - 14 254
Non-executive director: FHTES -
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky REBRT 240 - 12 252
Independent non-executive BV IFHITES
directors:
Mr. Chung Koon Yan EERELE 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Yongmei kiRt 120 - - 120
Mr. Jing Bao Li? HEM T2 120 - - 120

1,990 - 44 2,034
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M A

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 1. EEEABEX(E)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EZFHM(E)
2022 —E-F
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
e
REAM iR WE%‘J
e =45l SR @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET FET FET

Executive directors: WITES :
Ms. Yang Weit L 143 - - 143
Mr. Zhang Yanqjang RABLE 600 4 18 622
Mr. Gu Zhonghal BRgEE 334 - 47 381
Mr. Zhao Xinyan BITEE 240 3 - 243
Non-executive director: FHTES -
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky REBLL 240 - 12 252
Independent non-executive B IFHITES
directors:
Mr. Chung Koon Yan EERELE 120 - - 120
Dr. Yang Fuyu® HERELe 44 - - 44
Ms. Zhao Yongmei HEKER T 120 - - 120
Mr. Jing Bao L2 FEMF 2 76 - - 76
1,917 7 7 2,001
Notes: Mt
1 Mr. Zhao Xin Yan was appointed as an executive 1 B EER_ZTZZTF+A+A
director on 16 October 2020. HEZTANITES -
2 Jing Bao Li was appointed as an independent non- 2 HEMRERZZEZ—FN\A+=
executive director on 13 August 2021. HEZERBIIFEHNTES -
3 Yang Fu Yu was resigned as an independent non- 3 BE#ELIRZZEZ—FNA+=
executive director on 13 August 2021. A %ﬂﬁ*‘iﬂﬁﬂﬁ%% °
4 Yang Wei was resigned as an executive director on 5 4 BRZLER_FTZ—F+—AAA
November 2021. BHITES o
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no HE_ZE_—ERKR T _—_F=H
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as =+—HIFEE  KEFEWRAE
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as EYNERZFEB - EARS| HEN
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors Bk nes ﬁ*% Ei% 7 BB IEAEE
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in BB - RaZmEFE - HELH
both years. B L E R B E A H B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

BF 75 R 2 P

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

()

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2022: one) is a director of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2022: four) highest
paid individuals who are non-directors are as follows:

1. EEREAEXZ(E)

(b) EEESHFAL
AEEBRERSHFALTBEER
NA—H(ZE-_—F: —F)
BE CHEFMERLEX - %T
WE(ZEZ—F : W& )&=
FALT(BEREDTES)Z

BT -
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries and other allowances Fre M EMERL 1,786 1,845
Equity settled share-based AR ARG, RE 2
payment expenses RRFZ 94 -
Retirement benefits scheme IRRBFIGT B R
contributions 47 54
1,927 1,899

The number of non-directors highest paid individuals
whose remuneration within the following band is as
follows:

Within HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A

No bonus was paid or receivable by directors or the
five highest paid employees after considering the
Group’s operational and financial performance during
the year (2022: nil).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

At the end of the reporting period, there was no
forfeited contribution, which arose upon employees
leaving the retirement benefits scheme and which are
available to reduce the contribution payable in the
future years.

FMN T TIREZIEEH
mFMALTZEBNT

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
4 4

KEBAREBNFTAMNESZ X
kAR BESNESK
h & &m A TS S EUAE
G(ZT-—F &) o

FR - AEBTABEMER
e AT EREE - 1
ARSI HEMBESMBARER
B REBSEABRABE(ZE
TTF )

(c) RHEHMEHEER - WELE
B K - BRI RE
BRBRABHMAEMESL -
WA AR A B FERMNZ

e
R o

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M A

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T-_=F=-A=1+—HILHFE

12. DIVIDEND
No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2023, nor any dividend has been
proposed by the board of directors subsequent to the end
of the year (2022: nil).

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

12. KR
BE-T-_-F=-A=1+—HL#HF
JE I R SR R S
RERKREFENEZRIKMN M
BRE(ZE-—F &)

13. BREE
ARG A BB EA &
BRIV ER AT EETE ¢

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss 58
Loss for the year attributable to owners Eyt?r”khﬂxgzliﬁﬁﬁféﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
of the Company for the purpose of RN EER AEGFA
basic and diluted loss per share J?Eﬂfi (58,164) (41,082)
’000 ‘000
Fig Fig
Number of shares RAEE
Weighted average number of ordinary  #tztE GRRE AR R EEIEM
shares for the purpose of basic and 5 & &M@ INE T
diluted loss per share 330,272 329,710

The calculation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
and convertible note as they had an anti-dilutive effect to
the basic loss per share for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022. The basic and diluted loss per share are
the same for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EREEE
Land use Office

right premises Total

T fE AR b N3 st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FAET FET FET
At 31 March 2022 R-ZZTE-——F=A

=+—H

Carrying amount BREE 5,747 2,586 8,333

At 31 March 2023 R=ZBZ=%Z=A
=+—H
Carrying amount BRMEE 5,235 1,047 6,282
For the year ended BE-ZE-_=%=H

31 March 2023 =t+—HILEE

Depreciation charge WEEH (79) (1,460) (1,539)

Exchange alignment PE SR (433) (79) (512)

For the year ended S —

31 March 2022 =+—HALFE

Depreciation charge EEH (84) (1,617) (1,701)

Exchange alignment PE 5, 226 61 287

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Expense relating to short-term leases AR A SHFH 38 378

Total cash outflow for leases MEBRSMLERE 1,687 2,035

Addition to right-of-use assets NEFREEE - 2,189
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M A

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE
14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The land use rights of the Group are located in the PRC
with the remaining period of 59 years (2022: 60 years).

For both years, the Group leases various offices premises
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of one year to four years, but may have extension
and termination options as described below. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023

S

Cost:

At 1 April 2021
Additions
Written-off
Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2022 and
at 1 April 2022

Additions

Written-off

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2023

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 April 2021
Charged for the year
Written-off
Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2022 and
at 1 April 2022

Charged for the year

Written-off

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2023

Carrying amounts:
At 31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022

—EC=F=A=+t—HIEFE
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

m¢~
NZ_E-—4¥NA—H
=
ik
5 A
:?::E A=1-H
i St Rl =
*E
ik
5
RZBEZ=f=R=1+-H
ZiHE .
R-E-—FEA—-A
KEEMk
iy
A%
R_E-—F=f=+-H
ER-ZE-—#mA—AH
KEEMk
iy
A%
R-B-=£zF=+-H
E@E'
RZZ-=f=f=+-H
N —E=f=+—H

15. ¥ - BMEKRRE

Furniture,
Bearer Leasehold fixtures and Motor
plant improvements  equipment vehicles Total
EEt B
B BENEEE KERRK RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT TAT TET TET
7,436 410 426 17 8,443
- - 166 - 166
(7,7141) (350) (22) - (8,113
305 - 25 6 336
- 60 595 177 832
- - 14 - 14
- - (22) - (22)
- - (28) (7) (35)
- 60 559 170 789
6,164 257 323 17 6,915
1,272 129 50 - 1,451
(7,710) (326) (22) - (8,058)
274 - 14 6 294
- 60 365 177 602
- - 84 - 84
- - (22) - (22)
- - ©) U] (13
- 60 421 170 651
- - 138 - 138
- - 230 - 230

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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The Group leases out various retail stores under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically
run for an initial period of one to four years, with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by
lessees only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market
review clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option
to extend.

All lease arrangements are denominated in RMB. The lease
contracts do not contain lessee’s option to purchase the

property at the end of lease term. RN RERE o
HK$’000
T
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FmMA—H 60,631
Loss arising from change in fair value N EZEELENEIR (121)
Exchange alignment DB 57, S EE 2,485
At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022 RZE-_Z_F=A=+—H8BRK
MR-ZZE-__FMHA—H 62,995
Loss arising from change in fair value N EZBEENER (9,624)
Exchange alignment ME 5, A B (4,732)
At 31 March 2023 NR-B-_=F=A=+—H 48,639

The Group’s investment property’s interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purpose are measured using the fair value model and are
classified and accounted for as investment property. The
Group’s investment property is located in the PRC and
held under medium-term lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS R AR Y R

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

16. REW#E
AEERBELKEHEBHEETEE
EHEA SRAHMES - -HE
—RYFAEB—Z2NE - BiE TR
FAABEZEFRBHEEH Y E T
E e AEDHESHNEBEARA
ITEEEREF A B R TR MBS RE

3% -

MEHELHUARENE - HE
BRWAREFAEARERGEREK

AEERELEHEREN AR
HEXARNERNTHENREMFE
SEAXTFERAFELSRARA
RRREME - AEBENRENE
R0 B M AR BB -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_T-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 17. BELHEWE
HK$'000
TFET
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FWH—H 89,215
Additions NG 122
Exchange alignment ME 5, 5 3,404
At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—_F=ZA=+—HBK
RZZE-_—_FmMA—AH 92,741
Impairment RIE (15,632)
Exchange alignment ME 5, B (5,682)
At 31 March 2023 R-BE-=F=A=+—H 71,427
The properties held for sale at 31 March 2023 and 2022 RZEZ=FR_FT-__F=H
are located in the PRC, and are expected to be saleable =+t—B FHIELEMEMLRF
within 1 year. CWIBET AR —F R E -
18. INVENTORIES 18. #&
2023 2022
—E-= —E-
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Finished goods RIRK 0B 1,820 394
Inventories are expected to be recovered within one year. FEEEFEE KR —FAE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R R M A

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 19. £EYEE
2023 2022
=== —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FET
Fair value NFE
At 1 April REA—H 34,808 35,868
Increases due to plantation R FEE g hn 1,590 2,205
Decrease due to harvest IT%Hﬁlﬁﬁ)Uw\ (2,171) (574)
Loss from changes in fair value NP EZEREERKAEEZ
less costs to sell g (2,445) (4,059)
Exchange alignment M 54, 3R % (2,848) 1,368
At 31 March KR=A=+—H 28,934 34,808
Less: non-current portion of B M EERERBIE S
biological assets (28,934) (34,808)
Current portion mEnE s - -
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group HE-—_T-_=—F#=-A=+—HIt&
harvested approximately of 300,000 catties (2022: 280,000 F o ANEEWE 4300,0007 (=

catties) of Chinese herbal. The directors measured the
fair value less costs to sell by income approach based on

discounted cash flow model.

The Group’s biological assets represent the growing
populus alba var. pyramidalis and Chinese herbals as

follows:

Populus alba var. pyramidalis
Chinese herbals

AER

B
o BLff
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— 4 :280,000/T) R EER o BE
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2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
28,934 34,808
28,934 34,808
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e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
The quantity of biological assets at the end of reporting

19. £MEE(E)
RREHRNEVMEES SN TAT

period were as follows: N
Populus
Alba var. Chinese
pyramidalis herbals Total
ES FREE AT et
‘000 ‘000 ‘000
F17 Fi7 Fi7
At 31 March 2023 R-ZB-=%Z=A
=+-§ 200 - 200
At 31 March 2022 N-E-—F=H
=+—H 200 - 200
The Group’s biological assets were valued by independent AREENEYMEERBIEEME
professional valuers at 31 March 2023 and 2022. The MR==F :_E&_Qf\::i A
independent professional valuers involved in this valuation =+—HEE 2HEEEZELE
included a professional member of the Royal Institution %ﬁﬁﬁfﬁ@%@il%%% ﬁ el R==q ]
of Chartered Surveyors (“MRICS”) and have appraisal Z([MRICS))zEX=8 - ¥

experience in a broad range of assets such as property
assets, biological assets, mining rights and assets,
technological assets and financial assets in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

All biological assets are categorised as Level 3 in fair
value hierarchy. Details of valuation methodology used
is disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HARERBERAE —F==—

l&%/ BRERZEEMHELR
BRMEEE  4EMEE  BER
KRIEE - BNEEREREE -

MEEMEERATERERT S
REZM - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁl i
KR BT RERFRESS
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n‘/-ﬁ

CRELE e

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_T—=

FZA=+—RHIFE

19. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
plantations as follows:

(1)

2

(3)

(4)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
jurisdiction in which it operates. The Group has
established environmental policies and procedures
aimed at compliance with local environmental and
other laws. Management performs regular reviews
to identify environmental risks and to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations
in the price and sales volume. Where possible the
Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume
to market supply and demand. Management performs
regular industry trend analysis to ensure that the
Group’s pricing structure is in line with the market
and to ensure that projected harvest volumes are
consistent with the expected demand.

Climate and other risks

The Group’s plantations are exposed to the risk of
damage from climatic changes, diseases, forest fires
and other natural forces. The Group has extensive
processes in place aimed to minimise those risks,
including regular forest health inspections and industry
pest and disease surveys.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
changes in prices. The Group does not anticipate
that the prices of populus alba var. pyramidalis
and Chinese herbals will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future. The Group reviews its outlook for
Chinese herbals prices regularly in considering the
need for active price risk management.
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e B R R AR B

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables FEUBR TR

Less: Allowance for expected B TERIIE BEEE
credit losses 7EE

Other receivables H fib e sk 18

Prepayments TEfTFRIE

Deposits we

Note:

() At 31 March 2023 and 2022, prepayments mainly
represented the amounts paid to suppliers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for expected credit losses, presented based
on the past due date which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates:

Not yet past due i) A 51 HA

1 to 3 months past due s —==1@A

3 months — 6 months past due B =8 H =5 E A
Over 6 months past due B HARR A< (E A

The average credit period granted to customers is 6
months after an invoice has been sent out.

20. FEUNBRFR 2 H b FE U 7R 18

2023 2022

=== B —4F

notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FET FET
49,627 69,708

(30,366) (23,383)

19,261 46,325

745 4,622

(i) 39,519 54,393
652 869

60,177 106,209

BiaE -

() R-EBE-_=FR-_T-__—F=F7
=t+—H BARBEXEAINT
HERHIREE ©

AT MR (FRR(E E B 1E &
) 2RO - mEaH e (EEIR
iR B IR 251 -

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
4,291 16,127
4,841 3,938
3,657 13,048
6,472 13,212
19,261 46,325

BIEF 2 FHEEHARNER
#7<M8A -

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_T—=

FZA=+—RHIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

21.

At 31 March 2023, trade receivables of approximately
HK$4,198,000 (2022: HK$16,127,000) is due from the
Group’s largest customer.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong
Equity securities listed outside

Hong Kong A% A 3B 5

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Equity securities listed outside
Hong Kong sold short

D:EI/L

AR A& 5

The Group may short sell securities. Short sales or
borrowed stock are classified as a financial liability and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

When the Group sells securities it does not possess, it
has to cover this short position by acquiring securities at
a later date and is therefore exposed to price risk of those
securities sold short. The sales agreement is usually settled
by delivering borrowed securities.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023

20.

21.

R R A U FRIE (&)
R—ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 "
AEERERREABEFRP ZHREY
#4,198,0008 L ( —F = — F

16,127,000/ 7T) °

BE_ T _—FR-_FT-_—"F=H4
=+—HLEFENE S REAMER
HEREFEFBERREE TR
FMIFES7 ©

BAVEFABRSENEMT A

BAVEFABENERMEE
REB L 2 RAFE 7
REBAIMBE ETZ

BAVEFABENEHMEE
REBAIMEE EH 2

2023 2022

=== —EB - —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

1,622 2,309

- 6,000

1,622 8,309

- 3,556

REBFAEEES c BEHE AR

hoBEReEMEE  WKAFER
ATQ u+$ °

ERAEELENIIHFAEENES
B SAGBEEARBEANESRS
RBEE—IAE .JithXM—rE
EM%E’HET&H fﬁ’gﬁm
BRATBEAFESFRGEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE T -_=F=A=+—HILtFE

22. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

HK$
United States Dollar (“USD”)
Renminbi (“RMB”)

BT
EAES D)
ARE(TARE])

RMB is currently not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies and remittance of RMB out of the PRC are
subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and bank deposits
denominated in RMB of approximately HK$9,789,000
(2022: HK$10,842,000). The remittance of these funds out
of the PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions

imposed by the PRC government.

22 BERBITER

2023 2022
=== B —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,093 3,835

- 4,662

9,789 10,842
10,882 19,339

ARBHEKAIFBEBRETS A Mm%
ZE®E o AREELBINE BB A
REE LT BEAZHBERARZ
SN Il A5 Bl SR AR AR IR

RNZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H ' &%
EHAUAAREGTERNIRS RIRIT
F3K#99,789,0008 7L (T~ —4F :

10,842,000/ 7C) ° P EIME Bz S
B2BXPRRBNEITHINEE T
BR I ©

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z - =—F=-A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EIRA R M EAR
2023 2022
=== —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FEIT
Trade payables FERTBRX 43,958 43,574
Other payables (note (a)) H e sRIB (it (@) 7,899 11,669
Deposit received (note (b)) BYLE (Hit b)) 8,249 10,109
Accruals fEsTE A 3,337 3,690
63,443 69,042

An aging analysis of the trade payables based on the date
of signing the agreement of the advance or the relevant
invoice is presented as follows:

e BRI Z BRI D AT IR IR ZE B B3N
the A SRR R B MZ50 T

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$000
FAET FET
Within 3 months =EAN 10,966 3,823
Over 3 months but within 1 year B={EAE—FA 3,415 4,100
Over 1 year H—F 29,577 35,651
43,958 43,574
The credit period on purchase of goods and services BEERMEERBNEERNTI0E
ranged from 30 days to 365 days. 365H -
Note: Kiat -
(@ Other payables mainly include the followings: @ HMEMNFBEEHEEUNSE:

the amount due to ex-director of the Company and a
director of the Company’s subsidiaries of approximately
of HK$2,500,000 and HK$nil (2022: HK$2,500,000 and
HK$1,692,000) respectively as at 31 March 2023 which are
repayable on demand, unsecured and interest-free; and

RIE-_=F=ZA=+—8 " EH
KRARRIEEERARFKNBRAA
EFIE S F#92,500,0008 T M E
B (ZF = —F : 2,500,000/ 7T
1,692,000/87C) * %3 IEJ%&E
KIEE - EEERES

RZZE-—F=ZA=+—H ' B2H%
BB E = WERIE B EIEE
MESREEE -

(b) As at 31 March 2022, deposit received represented (b)
refundable deposit received from a third party for a project
which is unsecure and interest free.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-Z

—=F=A=1t—BIFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25.

Provision of mobile advertising
media services

As at 1 April 2021, the Group had contract liabilities of
approximately HK$35,264,000.

When the Group receives deposit before providing
advertising display services, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount
of the deposit. The Group typically receives a deposit on
acceptance of a contract.

Substantially all the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 have been
recognised as revenue during the respective financial
reporting period as the Group will normally provide the
services to satisfy the remaining performance obligations of
the relevant contract liabilities within one year or less.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current
because the Group expects them to be settled in normal
operating cycle within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

AMOUNTS DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER/
DIRECTORS/RELATED COMPANIES/NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts due to a shareholder/directors/related
companies/non-controlling interests are non-trade nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

24,

REB B ESRERS

25.

HARERBERAE —F==—

=y =L
2023 2022
=== B —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
8,452 22,112

R-_ZTE-_—FMWA—HB A&EBEH
B 4B EH35,264,000/8 7T °

EAEEAEREESRRRE UK
A&k a8ReaNRrEES
BHaE - EiWWA%ﬁEmW
HHEBARESBAL - AEEB
FREZANRKERE -

BHE_ZT-_=Fk-_FT-_—_F=H
—t+—HIEFEBRYVNMESLNE
BRI DEEBR AN A B I
LHENKE  TEAEEBRTEE
RS UR—FXARNETE
BAEHNETNB TEROEE -

AEERZEEHNEEIERR
B REAXEEEHEOEER
RE -2 EBHH (MR E RS
B+ —EARER -

BNBRR EE BEIR¥*
R R RR

ENRREEBERRIFE

hﬁ*%ﬁgﬁf%&g 3734
- B NIREREE

TRO-FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 4.60% to 5.13% (2021: from
4.60% to 5.13%).

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023

HE T =—F=-A=1+—HItFE
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAE
2023 2022
—E-=F B F
Present Present
value value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE BREEE HFEEE HEHEE
RARZBRE TR2BE SRR E R EsE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
FET FETT FET FET
Within one year —F R 1,132 1,157 1,617 1,719
After one year but within -~ —F1&{BRRER
two years 105 106 1,267 1,293
1,237 1,263 2,884 3,012
Less: total future interest  J& : RIKFI B FI X 4258
expenses (26) (128)
Present value of lease MEBECRE
liabilities 1,237 2,884
Less: Amount due for BT A —1E A REER
settlement within WBEENE
12 months (shown B(NREAE
under current IHT5)R)
liabilities) (1,132) (1,617)
Amount due for settlement 7+ —1& A 12 2 B3 /8
after 12 months (shown HEMERE(NIER
under non-current BEEENIR)
liabilities) 105 1,267

UﬁWﬂ‘fﬁé B NN T IE = 8
R ERIEA60%ES13% 2B (=
—4F : H4.60%E5.13%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE
27. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

27. AR ERE

On 28 March 2022, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible note with principal amount of HK$3,500,000 to
Ms. Cheng Peng (the “Noteholder”), who is an independent
third party. The convertible note is unsecured and
repayable upon maturity which is on the third anniversary
of the date of issue. The Noteholder entitled to convert the
whole or any portion of the outstanding principal amount
of convertible note into ordinary shares of the Company at
the Noteholder’s election at any time before the maturity
at the HK$1.00 (subject to adjustment as details in the
Company’s announcement dated 9 March 2022). The
convertible note is denominated in HK$ and are shown
under non-current liabilities at 31 March 2022.

The Convertible Notes are compound financial instruments
containing two components, liability and equity elements.
The fair value of the liability component with carrying
amount of HK$3,006,000 at initial recognition was
calculated using the discounted cash flows method at a
market interest rate for the equivalent non-convertible note.
The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial
recognition is approximately 5.1%. The equity component
with carrying amount of HK$494,000 at initial recognition
was stated at its fair value using the Binomial Tree Pricing
Model and included under the heading “Convertible notes
equity reserve”.

As at 1 April 2021
Issuance of convertible note
Imputed interest recognised (Note 8)

As at 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022

Imputed interest recognised (Note 8)

As at 31 March 2023

RZE-_Z_F=A=Z+N\H &R
AMBYE=SREBELX(EEF
B A )BTRS 553,500,000 7T
MEBARRERE - AIMRERAS
EIEA - AR EIER(BNETREA
F-HAFTAH)EERE ZREFBEAGE
T 51 B BT A £ {r] By [ 338 128085 ) #R R
FENEHIEANHLDREELRE
LA1.008 7T (R FHE - FBRAR
AEMA-_E-_—_F=AhLHHA
EVNERER AR BE
AIMREBEBABITE YR -F
T CFZA=Z+—HEFRHERE
HTAR ©

MR EREAEEAEMIAE 25
BENEDTEMILD - RUIRTHE
=2 B BR T 8 3,006,000 78 LAY B &
HoMAFEHAMBEREREE
BEENBRBREENT IS X
o YRR AERTERF
KM B5.1% o RYIE R REE
494,000 T = H oA AN
BREBEAIZEQAFEYR I
FFAIAI MR EEERFEE BT -

HK$’000
FET

R-ZZE-—FmA—H -
BT RREE
EEREER B (H28) 1
RZZEZZF=A=+—HK
R-ZZTEZZFMHH—H

ERREER S (H28) 155

R-Z-=%=A=+—H

3,006

3,007

3,162

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE
28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 1 April 2021

Issuance of convertible note

Charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss
(Note 10)

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2022 and at
1 April 2022

Credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss
(Note 10)

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2023

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative estimated
tax losses of approximately HK$174,549,000 (2022:
HK$127,229,000) as it is not probable if there will be future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised
tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely except for
the tax losses arising in the PRC will expire in one to five

R-E-—F
mA—H

BITA MR RIE

BiRABERINR

(Bia£10)
P& 5, 7%

= — —
i ——

“A=+—HER
—E-—FPYA—H

SFALZAEER
(H1at10)

bEE 5% 588

R-ZBZ=F
=R=+—H

years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

28. IEEBIEARE

Fair value on

investment Convertible
property notes Total
REWHE CIE: 3
Z2¥E R et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(19,485) - (19,485)
- 81) (81)
(152) - (152)
647) - (647)
(20,284) (81) (20,365)
2,406 25 2,431
1,522 - 1,522
(16,356) (56) (16,412)

WNZE-Z=F=A=+—H" ' MA
AN K] B8 B AR K FE &R B g A1) BA
WIHET B H 2 MIBEE - AR
SEYEBE RS EATHIESED
174,549,000 L (— & = — F :
127,229,000/ 7T ) RIBELETHRIEE
E o AREAFFTBRE &M - i)
BMERERECHIBEE - RERH

REEAERAGE  HERGRS

B 7 A P DA B B R SR B SRt 1) 2

HIBEE R ARK —
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=-F=-A=1+—HILHFE
29. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: ey
At 1 April RIMA—H
Share consolidation (note (i) BB (H2))
At 31 March R=A=1+—H
Issued and fully paid: EEGE
At 1 April RIMA—H
Subscription of shares REIRG (H15)
(note (i)
Shares consolidation (note (i) B & B (7))
At 31 March R=ZA=1+—H
Note:

29. RA
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —E-—fF —E-=F = S
Nominal Nominal
Number of Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares shares
EER Liak EER LiEk
BRHEE BmEE ZHE ZHEE
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FiE 2 FET
3,000,000 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
- (27,000,000 - -
3,000,000 3,000,000 300,000 300,000
330,272 3,252,716 33,027 32,527
- 50,000 - 500
- (2,972,444) - -
330,272 330,272 33,027 33,027
Kt -

M

(i)

On 7 April 2021, the Company entered into a conditional
placing agreement to place up to 50,000,000 placing shares
to not fewer than six placees who are independent third
parties (the “Placing”) at HK$0.1 per placing share.

Excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of shares
issued of approximately HK$4,310,000 standing to the
credited of the share premium. The Placing was completed
on 12 May 2021. The net proceeds of approximately
HK$4,810,000 has been used for working capital.

On 5 May 2021, the board of directors of the Company
proposed to implement the share consolidation on the
basis that every ten issued and unissued existing shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.1 each
(the “Share Consolidation”). Further details are disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2021. The
Share Consolidation was approved by shareholders of the
Company at an extraordinary general meeting held on 17
June 2021. The Share Consolidation was completed on 21
June 2021.

M

RZE-_—FWA+H  XAFF]
THEGEHREERE T PRANE
BN E=HEE AAGIRE S KN
0.1 7L A{E & il & & %50,000,000
feieER D (TEBREEE]) -

SRR F B HBEBTRE EE
2 B Z5E494,310,00058 7051 ABR
DanBHERFIE KEFEN_-Z
T—HFERAtT-HRERK - FFSFUE
SHEEL4,810,0008 L E BN EIEE
@o

R-ZE-_—FRARB  ARAE
ESREEHBRMOEH  HEAR
RNalRARF10RFREE0.01E
TTHE BT R AREITRAERGE O
ARG IREEO. 1B T A BHRR D
(T ERF]) - E—FHBELRARD
RIBEA-ZS-_—FRAAHHNA
LHWE - RHEHFERRFIRE
RZE-_—FNAT+EHBRMK
REFRIRE & - BRIDEHRZ
T_—FXRAZt+—BEK -

HAERERAR BB =FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z - =—F=-A=+—HIFE

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities at
the end of reporting period (2022: nil).

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

2012 Share Option Scheme

In order to enable the continuity of share option available
to be granted by the Company, an ordinary resolution had
been proposed to and passed by the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 August
2012 to adopt a new share option scheme (the “2012
Share Option Scheme”) upon the termination of the share
option scheme adopted at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 2 August 2002.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme enables the Company
to grant options to selected persons to subscribe for
shares in the Company as incentives or rewards for their
contributions or potential contributions to the Group. The
Board may, at its discretion, invite (i) any director or any
employee of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
invested entity; (i) any holder of legal or beneficial title of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
invested entity; (iii) any business or joint venture partner,
contractor, subcontractor, agent, sub-agent of the Group
or any invested entity; (iv) any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or
any advisory, consultancy, professional services to any
member of the Group or any invested entity; and (v) any
supplier of goods or services, customer or distributor of
the Group or any invested entity, to take up options to
subscribe for the shares in the Company for a consideration
of HK$10 per each lot of share options granted.
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30. AR

31.

REEHEGEER  AEET BT
MBEBRAIKARBBE(ZFT_—F : §) -

BT S
—E-_—FERES
BERNFAJEERLEBRE B
RZE——FNA=ZHETZ2ARQ
AIRRAFRE LM RERIR2ZWE
REBBEBRER  URKLER
NEE_EE-_FNA-_BETZ
PERAFRE FERA 2 ERERE
% EEFERERE(ZZE—=
FHEMERTE) -

R —FE——FEREFEFEAR
AIRER T EBRETETEATRER
NAEIRD  EARSHAEBREL
R BERR 2 BRI R - B
S RNERR)ART - EAEM
BRRIKEMKEETEEBZEMNESE
HEMEE ; ()\ANEBEAKE AR
HEMIREERAETEMESZ
EERERMAREZEMAFEA
(iAEBESEMTEETER 2 EME
BREEEIERNY - ABH 28
BRIE - BIRIE (vAAEBRE
Ak B A R s T i% & B e R
7T~ B B A il SR SR T
M BRI BERSE TR AL
EE: RVWAEERTMREETLE
ZEAE RS RS ZHER B
O HEE  WEBEFREBREI10HE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE T -_=F=A=+—HILtFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The 2012 Share Option Scheme is valid for a period of 10
years commencing on 3 August 2012. The option period
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of option.
There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. HK$10 is payable on
acceptance of an option within 28 days from the date
of grant. The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme or the date of approval by the shareholders

in general meeting where the limit is refreshed.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
individual in any twelve month period up to and including
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue at the date of grant unless approval from Company’s
shareholders has been obtained. Options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company or any of their respective
associates in excess of 0.1% of the total number of shares
in issue or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by
the directors, and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of

the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.

31. BRETE(E)

—E-—FERETEE)
—E-—_FEREFIBEH-F
——F N NA=ZHRF+FHELE
Mo BREEAFDBRIEE B
RETTEEBIBTF - RITHEBRE
AN ESEEEFAY - ARNED
EREEHE -+ ABRXHMNI0
BIUAERN—HERE - RIE-F
——FREREFT IR 2 AR
HRZBHEE - At TEBIBE=
T FIEREGTEIRM B R
HRBERASHEETHNEREAZ
BEITRMN10% °

FRIFERS AR R BRILE - REE
BREEH(BFEZE) LEF+—E
AERREEALERE REE
oz B AR 1T B B 31T S 2%
TZBmEE  TEEEAENKEH
Mz BETERM1% - ETARQA
TERRABUFFATEZTHHSE
BBMBEALTZBRENBERD
BT #801% » REEBER
5,000,000/ 7T * BIMZEESEEIG A
NRBERALAE -

8 P R RJ T 48 TE B P A ) P B
T - TEEAREREE =4
BT =FPz&ERE  (REHHE
HZ AR B W B ¢ (i) EER
HH AT AL A= % B 2 R A B F
BHWTHE + Mi)ARRRMDEE °
RE-_FT-_FBRESSIEAR
IR A IR B R E TA
FITEZAAEBRAE  RITERA
RRBETZENEB LR TEEA
AR RE BTN Z230% °

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BIRESTEI(E)

2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

—E-CFRREFEE)
RARITIERE A IE < B A 28 R HE AR
BRI ITTEEN T

follows:
No. of underlying shares comprised in option
tABREABRGRA
Granted Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise At 1 April during during  at31March
Participants Date of grant period per share 2022 the year the year 2023
R i 3
cECCF B ZB=t-H
B8 L RiBH i BRTERE BA-B  REARKE EREN BRI
Employees of the Group 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 to HKS$2.64 2,240,000 - (2,240,000) -
6 January 2026
T5E[ES “3-7E-AMA _7’ /\E ANEZE 26437
-2 —/ \E H N\ E
Employees of the Group 13 May 2022 13 May 2022 to HK$1.00 - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000
13 May 2025
AEERE “ECCERATER ZECCERATEAE O 100ET
“EoRERATEA
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.64 - - HK$1.0
METEE 2647 1087
No. of underlying shares comprised in option
STABREZ RERGEA
At Forfeited Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise 1 April during at 31 March
Participants Date of grant period per share 2021 the year 2022
(Restated)* (Restated)*
(& &51) (& s51)
N e S
i S3 B ZA=t-H
2EAL RHAH T BRITEE mA—A ERRY RATTR
Employees of the Group 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 to HK$2.64 2,240,000 - 2,240,000
6 January 2026
T5EES ~E-"E-ANA —£ /\E AMEZE 2643
—% —/ \i H /\ E'
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.64 - HK$2.64
MEFETER 2647 T 264 T
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 23,000,000 number
of share options had been granted. The estimated fair
value of the share options granted on 13 May 2022 was
approximately HK$5,416,000. Total consideration received
during the year ended 31 March 2023 from employees
and consultants of the Company for taking up the share
options granted amounted to HK$110. The fair value was
calculated using the polynomial model, taking into account
the terms and condition upon which the options were
granted. The significant assumptions and inputs used in
the valuation model are as follows:

Fair value at measurement date
Share price IRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility T8 B 0@
Risk-free interest rate i B M
Expected dividend yield

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares
in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and remain outstanding under the 2012
Share Option Scheme was 23,000,000 (2022: 2,240,000,
before the Share Consolidation as defined on page 158),
representing 6.96% (2022: 0.68%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

WAt BN ATE

TR B s o

31. BRETE(E)

—E-—FERETEE)
HE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—HLIF
€ - B % 123,000,000 17 88 A% & -
R-E-_—_FHEA+=HRLENE
B8 B (A F1E 4 A5,416,0008
e HE_T_=F=A=+—H
IEFE - BB RPTIR B B ARE M A
AAREEREMKRZEREE
110787T - A ETIRAZIEAER
TE - W RE L ERE 2 R &
G - ERAFAEANEANRSR
N AEURINT

Options
granted on
13 May 2022
iz S =
HA+=H
RHEMNBRE

HK$0.235/% 7T
HK$0.630/%& 7T
HK$1.000/%& 7T
89.5%

2.6%

RREHELEER  AITERE =
T-_FEREFIERLRHAR
1T1E 2 BERRHE T Al T3 1TAI AR 1D &K
B 423,000,000 ( =& = — 4 :
RRHEHF(EERFE158H) Al -
2,240,0000%) ' G R RBEIRZBE
BEITRMEB6.96% (T - —
0.68%) °

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 currently. The Group’s contributions to
the scheme are expensed as incurred and vested in
accordance with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where
employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of
the employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited
contributions is used to reduce the contributions payable
by the Group.

The employees employed by the Group’s subsidiaries in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits schemes operated by the government of the PRC is
to make the specified contributions under the schemes.
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THA -

RiEgiESE  BEREEAZE
% IE B BRAMA Z 5% &I 1F h
Ao ERERFEERIAT ABRK
A30,000/8 7T 4% LR » AEE ZH
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BHE-_T-_=ZF=ZA=1+—HIHFE
33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Disposal of Forever Uprise Creation Limited
(“Forever Uprise”)
On 26 September 2022, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell
and purchaser agreed to acquire the equity interests
in certain subsidiaries at consideration of HK$2. The
disposal was completed on 26 September 2022
and the net liabilities of Forever Uprise at the date of
disposal were as follows:

33. HEMNBAR

(@) HEXFRAEARAT(XkF
BIED
RZZE-_—_FhLA=-+/,"8"
AREBE—-FZBIFE=FHFIL
BEEWE Bt AKERE
HEREFREWREETHE
NAEHERE  REB2EBT -
ZHEER =T =__F LA
“t+RBEK - REEBH -
KABIREMFAGEWNT ¢

HK$
BT

Consideration

RE 2

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost

REEFRNEEREEDT

HK$'000
FET
Net liabilities disposed of HERFEEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEGTABENEMEE
profit or loss 3,344
Bank balances IRITHEER 2
Trade and other payables B 5 N EMERFRIE (10,107)
(6,761)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEMB AR KR
Consideration received BEUR(E =
Net liabilities disposal of HEFAE 6,761
6,761
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEARIRSMEFE
HK$’000
FET
Consideration RE =
Less: Cash and bank deposits disposal of i : HEMIRE RIFTER )
(2)
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * EFLH,0008 T
tHRERERAT B -—E=FFRH
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—F-=E=A=+—HAILFE

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Disposal of Yenbo Gain Limited (“Yenbo Gain™)

and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Yenbo Gain
Group”)

On 29 March 2022, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with 88581 (Mr. Deng
Shengcai*) (“Mr. Deng”), the non-controlling interest
of Yenbo Gain, pursuant to which the Group agreed
to sell, and Mr. Deng agreed to acquire, the 81.82%
of equity interests in the Yenbo Gain Group at cash
consideration of HK$2. The disposal was completed
on 29 March 2022 and the net assets of Yenbo Gain

33. HEMB AR (8)
b) HERENERLAA(TRE

FMNERHEMBLAR(KB(TRE
FIEME )
R—ZZE-_—_F=A=+NA8"
7N 5 [ B B0 A% B ST A ([ BF &
EDNEIVEEWHZH  BEFMH
BRI R B AEBERE
HE  MBEELTERENR S
RE2BETKWBERENERER
81.82% M - ZNEER=E
::E*H—+ﬂa%& i

Group at the date of disposal were as follows: HEHH  REMNEEANFE
EWT :
HK$
VBT
Consideration RE 2
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KEEFIENEEREBIN
control was lost
HK$’000
FEIT
Net assets disposed of HENEE
Other receivables and prepayment H b fERE IE&TEH/TA 72
Amount due from the Group JE R S B R 3R T 6,271
Cash and cash equivalent ReNIREE B 800
Other payables H At < 5RI8 (4,210)
2,933

*

For identification purposes only
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

33. HEMBAR(8)

(b) Disposal of Yenbo Gain Limited (“Yenbo Gain”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Yenbo Gain

Group”) (continued)

b) HERBENERLA(NRE
MNDRAEMBLAR (HE(RE
MeEE D (&)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB D REE
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received BEURE =
Non-controlling interest FEFE R A A 533
Release of translation reserve [ 5 EEE (579)
Net assets disposed of HERFEE (2,933)
(2,979)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEENRSREFE
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received BRRE =
Less: Cash and bank deposits disposed of i : HEMIRE RIRTTER (800)
(800)
* Amount less than HK$1,000 * &EAT,00087T
tHRERERAT B -—E=FFRH
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HE-_T—=
33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

FZA=+—RHIFE

(c) Disposal of individually immaterial subsidiaries

On 5 March 2022, the Group entered into sale and
purchase agreements with an independent third
party, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell and
purchaser agreed to acquire the equity interests in
certain subsidiaries at consideration of HK$572,000.
The disposal was completed on 15 March 2022 and
the net liabilities of subsidiaries at the date of disposal
were as follows:

Consideration RE

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost

33. HEMB AR (8)

(c) HEMEBIFEXMBAE
R-ZEBE-_—_F=RAH  &&E
BEBYFE=HILEEWH
& Bl AEBERELEM
B 7[R E AR ES72,0007 7T

BEETHEB AR - 328
EORNZE-—fF= H+£El
TRk REEBH - BBA
RFEENT :
HK$’000
FET
572

REEHENEEREEIN

HK$'000
FET
Net liabilities disposed of HERFHAE
Other receivables and prepayment H {th fE UL ERIE K FB A R 0E 2,359
Cash and cash equivalent RekREEFED 966
Other payables H Ath fE T 3RIR (5,028)
Contract liabilities GHEE (716)
(2,419)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHRBATKE
HK$’000
FET
Consideration receivable FERRE 572
Non-controlling interest FEFE R A A (732)
Release of translation reserve [ 5 EE L 885
Net liabilities disposed of HERFaE 2,419
3,144
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELNWES T SE
HK$’000
FET
Less: cash and bank deposits disposed of 3 : HEMIR S RIFTTIER (966)
(966)
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34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and key management
personnel during the year was as follows:

34. EXBRELRS
GEaVBRREMENRES
O RBE_Z_=ZFR-ZT__
FZRA=1T—HLFE XEHEZ
EITATERBETRS :

(a) FEEBAEBZHE
RENEZERTEEEEAE
ZEHBMmMT

2023 2022

—E-=E =B F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits He MEMET 2,315 2,582
Equity settled share-based payment — #EZSAEE LARRD AERME 2

expenses NEG3 94 -

Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFT B3R
contributions 31 36
2,440 2,618

The remuneration of directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals.
(b) Loan from related parties
Included in amounts due to related companies of
approximately HK$54,271,000 (2022: HK$57,003,000)
represents the balances with the companies in which
Mr. Huang Shih Tsai, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, has equity interests and/or directorships.
Other than the aforesaid, details of the balances with
related parties at the end of the reporting period
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EERTEEREABZHM
mFMEZESRENALZR
BEXE -

(b) REBELSHER
AAEMNBEEARRELY
54,271,000 (& ==
57,003,000/ 7T ) Jh 5 B KA A)
FTERREHBILEHEBRD
BHELE/SETEE 2 AN
ko B EaiEI - RIREH
MEE HEEER 2 &8T5
R G M S REK M FE25 ©

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. RREHERE
At the end of reporting period, the Group had contracted RIEEAR > NEBEHEPEIAM
with the tenants for the following future minimum lease BT R REEEE EUR
receivables:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
The Group as lessor AEBEREBEA
— Within one year ——FR 500 478
- In the second to fifth years inclusive —F _—FZFRF
(BIREEEMSE) 23 562
523 1,040
Property rental income earned during the year ended 31 BHE_T_=F=A=+—H
March 2023 was approximately of HK$1,140,000 (2022: FTEERDMERSKALY
HK$1,339,000). All of the Group’s investment properties 1,140,000 T (T = =
are held for rental purposes. At 31 March 2023, the 1,339,000 7T) - ASKBEHMAE R
property expected to generate rental yields of 2.3% (2022: é{%%fb% EREESBERN - R
2.1%) on an ongoing basis. T=F=A=+—8 FEi¥x
FHER2.3% (T2 2F : 21%)H
WaXEEMES -
36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 36. EXEHE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in AEBEEBREER  UHERAEE
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern ETERGeBRELES RS
while maximising the return to shareholders through the ZEVAREREREUAREE - [
optimisation of the cash and cash equivalents and equity R ARREREALOR - KREBRZE
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged BESRERER R FAEMA o

from prior year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on a basis of AREEBRERAGELREREER
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by Mmoo LR TIAGE BB &
equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial i FaERERTH o

position.

The capital structure of the Group consists of long-term AREBZEAEEBERBEER(E
borrowings (comprising amount due to a shareholder and PREREMN—BRERELEES
lease liabilities) and equity attributable to owners of the B)ARARBHEE AELER(E
Company (comprising share capital and reserves). B IERR AN ) o
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36. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
The directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period
was as follows:

Debt (i) =810

Less: Cash and bank deposits B Be RIRTTER

Net debt FAE

Equity attributable to owners of the NARHEE ARG
Company i

Debt-to-equity ratio BEHERIER

()  Debt comprises convertible note, lease liabilities and amount
due to a shareholder as defined in Notes 27, 26 and 25
respectively.

36. EREE(E)

EETHEMELRGER - (FREH
ZED  BEREEEARKANEE
BERBE R - R HE HE A
BHZERBELRWT

2023 2022
—EB-= —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
73,813 75,305
(10,882) (19,339)
(62,931) (55,966)
(13,245) 43,570
(475%) 128%

) BESEITEREZE HEEEN
JE A% BR K IE (R B 3527 -~ 26 1225

PR BISRE)

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EREE

Financial assets at amortised cost  IH#ESEK AT E 2 S & E

Financial assets at FVTPL BAFERT ABER
TREE

Financial liabilities =i

WEERATE 2 RAR
BAHERT AR
TRBE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities of FVTPL

(o) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

37. eRIT R

(a) EMTEER

2023 2022

—E-=HF —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
31,540 71,155
1,622 8,309
(201,583) (211,277)
- (3,556)

(b) BBEREERRBFERBE

The Group’s major financial instruments are disclosed
in above. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and other
price risk; the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023

AEEZFESMI AR EX
WEE - ZF Rt TAMEREZE
aﬁ.ﬁm%—ﬂ (ifﬁ%ﬂ e N |
%) ;ﬁ RBES®
ﬂ&&ﬁm{?‘ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ C BEA
1n] 4% % % 25 [ Bz #Y) B3R &K 51) 40
T -EREEEEREZEAHER
B - DA (R B2 38 By A RUM ERER
WEEH o

Z’K%]¥K§Z$EEI/E\'H[&AN
*'J‘REEEE&%@TEEL@ZET
A ]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AL + >
mE Rk M
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE T =—F=-A=+—HIFE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

37. €I A ()
(b) BBEEREREBRRBEE(E)

(i) Market risk management () TEEEEE
Currency risk B

The Group is exposed to currency risk which
gives rise to cash and bank deposits that
are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a
currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transaction relates.

Certain cash and bank deposits are denominated
in USD and RMB. The conversion of RMB
into other currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the government of the PRC. The
Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk in
respect of exchange fluctuation of HKD against
RMB as the non-PRC subsidiaries of the Group

AEBEAZEERR - I
EENINE(BIEBR S 2
B AEEBZNEEEN
SN EE)FHEZIRE MR
TER o

HETHRESRBITERIAE
TRAREE AR
ABAEMERARTH
B 5 8 A B0 SN Y AR
AN AR B - 2N 5= B3 &
BEMEBETAARKER
KB IMNE R R - T E R
AEBEFRBEBRRY EE

does not have material balance in RMB. RAREE 64 o
Sensitivity analysis BRI AT

The Group is not exposed to material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of HK$
against USD as long as this currency is pegged.
Therefore, USD are excluded from the analysis
below.

No sensitivity analysis is provided in respect of
exchange fluctuation of HK$ against RMB as the
non-PRC subsidiaries of the Group does not have
material balance in RMB.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates arises primarily from bank
deposits with a floating interest rate. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge its interest rate risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did
not have variable rate interest bearing liabilities.
The Group has no exposure to interest rate risk.

REERHE  AEEY
PEZBERBILHEETH
BEARIMERRR - Hitt - &
TR IIAIA R AT

HRAEEFEPERRL
BEAARBES: B
BERETAARBZER
MBI R BURE DA -

TETl
K 5 B (L 7795 ) R 0 48 7
AEZARIERATH
FIRIRITER - AEEL
R AT A D BT A%
E IR -

RIE IR - AEE L
FRaM - AEBYEE
) R o

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
(i) Credit risk management

FZA=+—RHIFE

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

At 31 March 2023, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 66% (2022: 62%)
of the trade receivables of the Group were due
from top five customers (2022: top five customer).
The directors considered the credit risk is limited
since the Group only trade with customer with an
appropriate credit history and good reputation.
The directors monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) and bank balances.

Trade receivables

The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix
or assessed individually. The provision matrix
was based on historical credit loss experience
with reference to the past default experience of
the debtors, general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast conditions at the reporting date.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk management (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)
At 31 March 2023, the ECL of debtors with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$21,839,000
(2022: HK$51,805,000) was assessed by
using provision matrix which was shown in the
following table for the year ended 31 March
2023. Debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$27,788,000
(2022: HK$17,903,000) as at 31 March 2023
was assessed individually and full allowance is
provided since the receivables are past due for a
prolonged period.

Gross carrying amount

Not yet past due BRI

1 to 3 months past due BH1ZE3(E A
3 to 6 months past due BEE6EA
Over 6 months past due B R A61E A
Not yet past due BENGE:

1 to 3 months past due BH1Z3ME A
3 to 6 months past due AH3Z6(E A
Over 6 months past due BHER6EA

37. E@MIT A(E)
(b) BEEREEEERBEK(E)

(i) EERBEEE(E)
JEW R (48 )
N —-ZE - =& = A
=+—H BFEEHLZY
21,839,000 (=T ==
& : 51,805,000/8 70 ) K fE
WEEFMBEHREEEEF
ATRFARBE_T=_=
FZA=1T—HLEFEHN
BEERTME RNZZ
—_=%=A=+—H K@
4B %EH 427,788,000/ 7T ( —
S 17,903,000 /&
TR EBEREEEHRSE
BEEERERNERERER
BETUFNE  BEEIK
FIEE A RBE LS
IRERERE -

BREAaE

2023

—EC-=
Average Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THEER REAE BERE
HK$000 HK$°000
FE7 FET
0.5% 4,312 21
4.4% 5,062 221
7.8% 3,967 310
23.8% 8,498 2,026
21,839 2,578

2022

—E--F

Average  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THBREX RRAE BERE
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
0.1% 16,140 13
41% 4,105 167
7.5% 14,100 1,052
24.3% 17,460 4,248
51,805 5,480
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
(i) Credit risk management (continued)

FZA=+—RHIFE

Deposits and other receivables and bank balances

Deposits and other receivables were measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
deposits and other receivables as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$nil (2022: HK$nil) was
recognised in respect of other receivables.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk management (continued)

The following table shows the movement in
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables under the simplified approach:

At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FMA—-A
Impairment losses recognised, net B HEZREEEEE

At 31 March 2022 and

at 1 April 2022 RZEZ-FMA—AH

Transfer L3
Impairment losses recognised, net B HEZREEEEE
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=f=A=+-H

Liquidity risk management

In management of the liquidity risk, the
management manages the Group’s funds
conservatively by maintaining a comfortable level
of cash and cash equivalents in order to meet
continuous operation needs. Various banking
facilities and credit lines will be considered to fund
any emergency liquidity requirements. The Group
currently relies on funds generated from business
operations, issue of new shares and convertible
notes as well as advances from directors/related
companies/non-controlling interests as principal
source to maintain its liquidity.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents considered adequate by the
directors to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

RZB-—F#=A=t-0kK

37. €I A ()
(b) BBEEREREBRRBEE(E)

(i) EERBREE(E)
TRETREBEB(CT AR
& Ui B 8 B 2R ) 2 A TR
EEEREE

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2HRH 2HEH

REFR REFR
(LEEERE)  (FERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
3,120 239 3,359
2,360 17,664 20,024
5,480 17,903 23,383
(2,402) 2,402 -
(500) 7,483 6,983
2,578 27,788 30,366

(iii) HTEBELREREE
EERBESERE &
BEARABReMNRESE
EMEZFREBEKFE - U
EEFEEBRAEREA
T NENFEEERN
T ARNBBEELIAR
TREREZEREE @ U
NfEREBEEZRHELH
T o REEBRKUEKE
B BT AR
ZEMEEES LK
BF BEARIEER
D 2BREAETEES
RRAERSERBES -

AEBEEERERESR
RARHNESLRBAEEE
MKFE - ARAEEEE
RHEESMBRERSTE

ZRBFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=F=-A=1+—HILHFE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (continued)
The following tables details the Group’s
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms.
Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities are
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The analysis is prepared
on the same basis for both 2023 and 2022.

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate
METH
ERRIE
2023 s
Non-derivative financial liabilities HTEERERE
Trade and other payables ERERRA R -
Lease liabities L 48%
Converthble note TEREE 5.1%
Amounts due to directors S -
Amounts due to related companies NG -
Amounts due to non-controling interests  JEA 3E IR IR 2B -
Amount due to a shareholder ER—ARRENE -
Total gt
2022 Sl
Non-derivative financial liabilities HTEERERE
Trade and other payables ERERRA R -
Lease liabities L 7.2%
Convertible note TEREE 5.1%
Amounts due to directors T -
Amounts due to related companies ERBELFR -
Amounts due to non-controling interests 7 3EiA *&ﬁ%’ -
Amount due to a shareholder ER—ARRNE -
Total gt
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37. EMITAE)
(b) MBEEREEEERBEEKGE)

(i) HEBELEBEE(E)

TRFAREREEERK
HErE 2 AEBENTES
MEBEEHNINBHEL &
MEBEZATRREMNIE
BASEAEANR Z &
FHHBHE T =-_=F
N - —FoWMIIRE
FERIEAEHEST o

On demand Total Total
or less than Oneto undiscounted carrying
oneyear  fiveyears  cashflows amount
BREX AERE
AR -2Rf  RE#E  HKEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT AT
63,443 - 63,443 63,443
1,157 106 1,263 1,281
- 3,500 3,500 3,162
8,957 - 8,957 8,957
54,338 - 54,338 54,338
1,032 - 1,082 1,082
69,414 - 69,414 69,414
198,341 3,606 201,947 201,583
69,042 - 69,042 69,042
1719 1,293 3,012 2,804
- 3,500 3,500 3,007
7172 - 7172 7172
58,743 - 58,743 58,743
1,015 - 1,015 1,015
69,414 - 69,414 69,414
207,105 4,793 211,898 2120
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Other price risk

37. £MIAE(E)
(c) HttEERR

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its
investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL.
For equity securities measured at FVTPL quoted in the
Stock Exchange, the directors manage this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risks. The management has monitored the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to other price risk at the end of
the reporting period.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to other price risk at the end of
the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis of listed
securities with fair value measurement categorised
within Level 1, 5% sensitivity rate is used as a result of
the volatile financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% higher/lower, the loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$81,000 (2022: HK$238,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of listed equity
securities classified as FVTPL.

AREBFEBAERAFEFAR
@7 NET B MR E 7R E &
XHEAMEBRER - BB
PRERE M AR A FEF ABR
THAAENRARES  EFRE
BEREATRRARNKREM
BREENER - EEECE
RERRER  XHEBEREH
ERE B ER o

A TBRED MR ER HRE
HIRAS N EMERERERE

FRES T IHRBERRE R
EEMEMERAREE - Y
RAFEFEIER/RE—EDH
EHRBSOBREDN - BR
KA BTIH KB ERMAS% °

WEEZTEMNERLEH T
5% BHE-_ZT_-_=—F=A
S+t HALFENEBEERS
AR ATEFABENET
RAZBENFEES ML,
1 A1 4781,0008 T ( —ZFE = =
4 1 238,000/87T) °
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HE T =—F=A=+—HIFE
38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial statements were

approximate of their fair values.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
FVTPL, investment property and biological assets
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as

defined in HKFRS 13:

Fair Value Measurement

At 31 March 2023 N-E—-=

TREE

— Listed equity securities — %25

Investment property: "EYE -
— Located in the PRC — A
Biological assets EYEE

At 31 March 2022 W—ZTE—-—

CREE
— Listed equity securities — & ARE A
Investment property: LEYE -
— Located in the PRC — LR
Biological assets EEE

F=A=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL 1#A T (EEt ABZEH

F=H=+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL # A (EE ABZER

38. AT{EETE
ARNBEERE  RNEaWBHmE
FHREACEHEEREHBEZR
HEEEAFERE -
AFEEER
TR RN REPBFRETEEE
FFTEYDBAEE BN BHRELERE
13T RT 2= A FEERERE
ZAEEBRAFEFABR  8E
YN EMEER A TE
AV E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— ER E=H HWEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$S 000
FET FET FET FET
1,622 - - 1,622
- - 48,639 48,639
- - 28,934 28,934
1,622 - 77,573 79,195
8,309 - - 8,309
- - 62,995 62,995
- - 34,808 34,808
8,309 - 97,803 106,112

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
was no transfer of fair value measurements into or out of

level 3 for the Group’s investment property.
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

38. A EFTE(E)

Fair value measurement of FVTPL

The fair value of the Group’s FVTPL at the end of the
reporting period was determined by the quoted bid prices
in an active market.

Fair value measurement of investment property

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at the
end of the reporting period has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Ltd, an independent qualified professional valuer
who are not connected with the Group and have among
their staff members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
with recent experience in the valuation of property in the

B AFEH ARENSREEN L
FiEH R

R B A T B AR © A
ER B MR AT EREEDS
FREEEEE -

REVMENDTEE

AEEREMERN RS HRORAF
BNREBEBLAERERMGEM
ARk R AHE AR A BEITHE
BEMSH - ZAREARNEEIWERE
E - HARABTBAEMBENE
T HrHEEMEBLEN Y ERL

relevant locations.

At the end of each reporting period, the management will (i) REREPELEEH - EEEB()Z

verify all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

(i) assess property valuations movements when compared ¥ ()T E 2 EHRE LB TS

to the prior year valuation report; and (i) holds discussion

with the independent valuer.

Level 3 hierarchy

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised

within Level 3:

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2021

Loss arising on change in fair value

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2022 and at 1 April 2022

Loss arising on change in fair value

Exchange alignment

At 31 March 2023

ERVHERSZABEEEHAH
MG EEE - K (i) B2 G (ERD
5 ©

FE=ER

AEEE =MD TE R

Investment
property
REWME
HK$'000
FET
BREE

EC_;_—EEH H 60,631
N EZEELENEE (121)
BE 54, A B 2,485

R-ZE-—F=A=1+—BxK
RZEZZFHHA—H 62,995
NEEFEENEE (9,624)
b 54, A B (4,732)
R=ZBZ==H=+-—H 48,639

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment property (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

38. AYEFTE(E)

REVENDFETEE)
PEABAFEBLRE-H2REY
EEEMRAZEERZREEEH
ABBEZBMENT -

Valuation Significant Key unobservable
Description technique unobservable inputs inputs
R fRER BERTAHERAYE TETABRRRAHE
Investment properties Income capitalisation Market yields 5.5% (2022: 5%)
located in the PRC approach
IR EIH R E MR WABRIE [k LG 55%(ZT "% : 5%)
Monthly Rental Income RMB26/m2 to
RMB91/m?
AMEBA FBEAIRARE26TE
BYHRARKIT
(2022: RMB34/m? to
RMB98/m?)
(ZT——%:
BYARARE3ATE
BYHARARESTT)
Direct comparison Market price (price per RMB4,470/m? to
method square meter) RMB16,103/m?
BEHERE MIHER BYARARKES470TE
(G FFHARNER) BYHARAEE16,1037T
(2022: RMB6,030/m? to
RMB18,455/m2)
(ZZ=—=%F:
FYHRARES,030TE
BYAARARE18,4557T)

The valuation of investment property located in the PRC
were based on income capitalisation approach which
capitalised the rental income of the property and taking
into account the reversionary potential of the property after
expiry of the current lease. Measurement of the fair value
is positively correlated to the market rental and price per
square metre and inversely correlated to market yields.

Direct comparison method assumes properties are capable
of being sold in its existing state with the benefit of vacant
possession and by making reference to comparable
sales evidence as available in the relevant markets. The
measurement of fair value is positively correlated to the
market price per square meter.
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38. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
Fair value measurement of biological assets

Biological assets were stated at fair value less costs to
sell at the end of the reporting period. The fair value was
determined by the independent qualified professional
valuer, Graval Consulting Limited by using income
approach with reference to market determined prices,
cultivation areas, species, growing conditions, cost incurred

and to be incurred and expected yield of crops.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in prior year. In estimating the fair value of the
biological assets, the highest and best use of the biological

assets is their current use.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The following significant unobservable inputs were used to

measure the Group’s biological assets plantation:

Description Valuation technique

P S

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTTEHERARE

38. A EFTE(E)

EMEENDTEE
EMBEERBREHEEERRAYF
ERHEEXAINR - R FETIH
BUABEREXMEMEELER
FRARARSEMSEE EER
BmiE s AREBER  EEERS
EEXCKAARTER RIEMESE
ERRAEZMETE -

KB FE AR A e b BRI 8 2
B NMAFEMEE Z AFER -
EMBEERMERE &S k&
M -

BHE=RLFlETEHEH
AT EARNABREG AZIEARE
EARENAEYEERER -

Key unobservable inputs
as at 31 March

FERTBRGASE
W=B=+-—H
2023 2022

—E-=F —FT-—4F

Populus alba var. Income approach Estimated selling price (per cubic RMB550 RMB600
pyramidalis Bunge metre)
L= WAL Rt EE(FLAK) AR¥5507T ARE6007T
Required rate of return 22.15% 21.66%
IS CIE e
Estimated maturity year 2024 2024
CRESE) —BomE —TOMF

The fair value measurements are positively correlated to the
price and negatively correlated to required rate of return of

each group of biological assets.

The reconciliation of the movement between opening and
closing balances of biological assets categorised valuations
under fair value hierarchy of Level 3, measured at fair value
using a valuation technique with significant unobservable
inputs is set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BB AT R R
AENERE EEM - 2% 6
=2 @AM -

REE=MAFESRENEESD
BEENHNERREHRES Y
B - AMEREERMNRAFEFE
B AEATABREGABERR
A mAME -
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 and 2022
were as follows, the class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated:

Name of subsidiary

WEAFER

Sunshine Wonder Limited

Zhifeng Holdings Limited

HeRARAA

Thousand Investments Limited

BBEERAR)

RERLERRARD Y

HEERTERRERAA

ﬁ

St

ant it
> ot

> EiE

_J§—m

Yenbo Gain Limited (note)

BENERLA M)

Hong Kong Sliversage Holding

Limited (note)

BERHERARL AN
BRENRG (R AR

(note)

BRENRA (R ERA

(i3

TERE

Place/country of
Incorporation/
operation
ieY/
feny /B3

British Virgin Islands
AERAES

British Virgin Islands
ZERAES

Hong Kong

The PRC
P

The PRC

P

The PRC

RE

British Virgin Islands
RERLAE
Hong Kong

&

The PRC

7

i

R

Issued and fully
paid/registered
capital
BRARAR
B /g

US$100
100%7

US$100
100%7

HKS$1
1381

HKS$1,000,000
1,000,000/ TC

RMB10,000,000
ARH10,000,00070

RMB10,000,000

ARH10,0000007C
Us§22

2ET

HK$10,000
10,0007
RMB5,535,590

A&H5,536,59070

39. fB A RFAER

RZE_=ZFR_FT_—_F=A
=t—B - ARAZHERAN

T BRBITHBAEIN FAEFERNDE
A REEAR
Proportion of nominal
value of issued capital/
registered capital
held by the Company Principal activities
AATREZERARE/
AR EELS IERK
Directly Indirectly
ER Fi&
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECZE “E-CF ZECZE CE-C
100% 00% - - Investment holding
REER
- - 60% 60%  Investment holding
REERK
- - 60% 60%  Investment holding
RERK
- - 60% 60%  Investment holding
REER
- - 60% 60%  Research and develop on forestry
products
WEMEER
- - 60% 60%  Forestry cultivation, promotion

N/A N/A N/A

TER  AER  TER

N/A N/A N/A

TER  AER  TER

N/A N/A N/A

TER  AER  TER
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. M A RFAER(E)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued capital/
Incorporation/ paid/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Company Principal activities
e/ EERAR AATBEZERTRE/
HEAREHE fmEns /A% RA/EHER mER i EEL A IEEH
Directly Indirectly
Bk i
2023 2022 2023 2022
CEBCCE CFCCF CECZE C2oC
HEPMUANRIERAE The PRC RMB1,838,500 N/A N/A N/A N/A~ Cultivation and distribution
(note) of agricuttural and forestry
products
TERHRAENRINERAT DE AR 1,838,500 TER  TER  TER  TER BREROERMEER
(i)
Field Source Capital Resources Hong Kong HKS$1 - - 51% 51%  Trading (supply chain) business
Limited
REATERAT (3% 187 BA(fER) X%
Forever Uprise (note) Hong Kong HKS$1 N/A 100% - - Trading (supply chain) business
KAL) (35 187 ek BA(fER) X%
Grant Shing Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - - 51% 51%  Trading (supply chain) business
BIERAA B 10000007 BA(fER) 5%
Great World Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
(35 187 RERR
Prime Profit International Group Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - General trading business
Hololings Limited
BHERERERAR (3 187 —REAZH
ENZHeEEREERAR® The PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 2601%  26.01%  Provision of magazings printing
and advertising services
e AR %5,00000070 RAESEIRI R B IR
FUATZEREXARAT ThePRC RMB25,000,000 - - 100%  100% Propertyinvestment and
development, operating and
managing residential and
commercial properties
hE AR 250000007 MERERER  BEREEML
TRERNE
Shenzhen Zhixunpai Information The PRC RMB10,100,000 - - 505%  505% Provision of inteligent advertising
Technology Co Ltd.* media services
AIBRRESHEERAT RE AR%10,100,0007 RUEEVERSHRRE
HARERERAR BB =FFHK
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. B ARFMAER(B)
Proportion of nominal

Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued capital/

Incorporation/ paid/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Company Principal activities

HRRY/ ERTRER ARABELERTRE/
WEARER el /BX R/ ERER AMERFEEELA IEXH

Directly Indirectly
Bk L
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECCE CFCoCF CECZE CRoC

Ka Yip Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - - Trading (supply chain) business
FRERERAA (3 10,000%7C BR(ER) 2R
Hi-Smart Technology Limited  Hong Kong HKS 1 100% 100% - - Trading (supply chain) business
BRHRARAT BE 187 BA(fER) 5%
#  limited liability company (solely invested by Taiwan, Hong * RAPBEKZABERAF(HAEE -

Kong or Macao legal person) established in the PRC.

* limited liability company (solely invested by foreign owned
enterprise) established in the PRC.

" limited liability company (solely invested by legal person)
established in the PRC.

@  Although the Group’s effective ownership interests in these
companies were equal to or less than 50%, the management
consider that the Group control these companies through
more than 50% voting power in the board or shareholders’
meeting of these companies and therefore these companies
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

note:

These company were disposed during the years ended 31 March
2028 and 2022.
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. B ARFMER (&)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities ZMB AR PSR E AR M
outstanding at the end of the reporting period or at any R A R ERERES o

time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in FRINEZEREBRWB AT » JhE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results ERETEZEREFBXEENEE
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries JZNT c BERE  HEHEMMKB
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particular of NAEBYERANRITE -

excessive length.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRETAKNEE A ERNIFERE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling HIIEEEMBRARMFEE - T5I8
interests. The summarised financial information below BEHGZEREEMEYEANS
represents amounts before intergroup elimination: L
Proportion of
Place of incorporation ownership interests and
and principal place voting rights held by (Loss)/profit allocate to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary of business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
AR FERBRAHEN PREFERERN
HEAREH REEERUE FERRERRERE AL () &H it ERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-ZE “E-C -z -§--F CZEB-ZE —E--F
Shenzhen Zhixunpai Group (note (i) the PRC 49% 49% (5,779) (100) 8913 14,692
AIERRER W) e
Yenbo Gain Group the PRC NA NA - 1,149 - -
RENEE i ki NER
Zhifeng Group the PRC 40% 40% (1,233 (352) 8,398 15,681
Gt £3 hEl

Individual immaterial subsidliaries with
non-controlling interests (592) 2,155
REERER BRI EANE LR

16,719 32478

Notes: Kz -

()  Excluding the non-controlling interests of its subsidiaries. () TEEENBREIMIEERERS -

HRERERAE B -—F_=FFRH 183
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39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information

before intragroup eliminations for subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

Summarised financial information

At 31 March 2023

Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current assets
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

At 31 March 2022

Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current assets
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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39. B RRFAER (E)

TXEINEHMB AR (HEEHAEE
mEBERZIFELRED) NEER

AT PFEREE -

BEERBE
R-ZE-=F=A=+—H
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
#IYIE FR IR BEF =g
&5 &8 &5
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T FHET FET
70,799 NATREA 1,211
(52,925) NATEMA (14,386)
316 NATEMA 34,170
-  NATEA -
18,190 NATEH 20,995
WRZZEZZF=A=+—H
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group  Gain Group Group
RIS TR BB ot
% 3] %
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
93,255 NAAE A 1,571
(64,378)  NAT @A (3,050)
1,181 NAA3E A 40,556
(877) NAANE A -
29,681 NA 3 A 39,077
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_T-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

39. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. M QA AIFAER(E)

Summarised financial information

At 31 March 2023

MBERBE

R-B-_=F=A=+-—H

Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group  Gain Group Group
RINE IR 2ER F.
£8 £ 58
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Revenue Wa 142,288 NATEH 2,176
Other income HAb WA 14 NATEH -
Expenses Fx (148,237) NATEH (16,991)
Loss for the year AFEBE (5935) NATEHA (14,815)
Other comprehensive income/(Ioss) Hi2EWA/ (BE) (5859) NATEHA (3,268)
Total comprehensive loss for the year NG & B 184250 (11,794 NATEHA (18,083)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RIS/ (FTA)
operating activities ReF8 2,043 NATER (293)
Net cash used in investing activities REXBMAR S FHE - NATEA -
Net cash used in financing activites ~ REEHKFAE S FEE (843) NATEA -
At 31 March 2022 W_E-_—_F=A=+—H
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
ARG IR REF| TE
&E £E e
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET &L
Revenue s 282,644 - 1,853
Other income HA - 6,557 -
Expenses 53 (284,021) - (4,334)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(EE),/HF (1,377) 6,557 (2,481)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Etz2mA/ (EE) 1,175 (237) 1,601
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ RNEEZEWA,(EIE)
the year 1z (202) 6,320 (880)
Net cash generated from/(used in) IR EES,/ (FTR)
operating activities Be 3 3,827 (612) (187)
Net cash used in investing activities REERFAR S F8 (885) - -
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEGKAMARSFE (899) - -

HAERERAR B ——ZE_=FFH
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BE_T-_=F=-A=1+—HILHFE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

40.

Other Lease Convertible

MEXBFELEREIHR

TRFLASEEREXZBMELER
EMEE  BEREREchIIERSE
o mMEXRFEAABERERS
REELIARARREREBT AR

SEGEREREREHEELDN

fﬁi/ﬂbiﬁ%ﬁ%

Amounts  Amounts
Amounts dueto duetonon-  Amount
dueto related controling  duetoa

payables liabilities notes  directors companies interests shareholder Total
Bt iRk B EABE EMHER  EA-%
EHRE  HEEE ZE  EERE ODERE ERRE  RRRE &t
HK$000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$O000  HKS000  HKSO000  HK$000
TEr  fEr TEr TEr FEr TEr FEr TEr
At 1 Apr 2021 R=B-—-EmA-H 7,648 2,103 - 6,784 58,171 9673 69,414 163,793
Non-cash changes E3k 5|
- Finance costs recogrised (1ot § -BRRBERA W8 513 179 1 - - - - 693
- Addtion -RE - 2,189 - - - - - 2,189
- Exchange dignment -5 196 70 - 219 2359 263 - 3167
Cash flows Béig
- (Outfiow)/infiow from financing actiities  —BEEH 2 () /A (8,357) (1,657) 3,006 109 (1,787) (8.921) - (17607)
A3 March 202 andat 1 Aprl 2022 R-E-—F=A=+-HR
RZB--4MA-H - 2,884 3,007 1172 58,743 1,015 69,414 142,235
Non-cash changes #0488
- Finance costs recogrised (note 8) -BRTRERR WiH8) - 9 165 - - - - 254
- Exchange alignment -EHE - (on - - (4,388) 1 - (4484)
Cash flows BéhE
~ (Outfow)/infiow from financing actiities  —BEEH 2 () /R - (1,649) - 1,785 (17) 16 - 135
At 31 March 2023 WZBZ=£=f=1-A - 1,287 3,162 8,957 54,338 1,082 69,414 138,140

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023
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41.

42,

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, there were no other major non-cash
transaction during the years ended 31 March 2023 and

M. TEHFRERF
BRire M MR EMA D PIREE
S BE_F_=ZFR-_F_—
“A=+—HIEFEVTEAMERX

2022.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HE KRB
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRIZIKE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEULHI B A &) 2 IA
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayment e RFERFHOR
Cash and bank deposits WE RIBITF
Current liabilities REEE

Accruals and other payables

FESTHNIA S EL A e 3R

Amount due to subsidiaries AN EENGIE e
Lease liabilities MEaE

Amount due to a shareholder FE —Z IR R I
Amount due to directors JENE E I8

Net current liabilities BB EFE
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Convertible note Gl ES

Lease liabilities HEaE

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE

FRERS -

42. ARFZMBRRER R EEE
(a) ARFZEBAMRRE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
818 1,548

29 42

21 13

- 88,615

868 90,218
461 1,112
145 121
606 1,233

(5,124) (4,107)

(8,808) (19,409)

(889) (749)

- (33,840)

(2,381) (6,574)

(17,202) (64,679)

(16,596) (63,446)

(3,162) (3,007)

- (890)

(56) (81)

(3,218) (3,978)

HAERAERAE —FB-=-F-=FFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HIFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

(continued)

Net (liabilities)/assets

Capital and reserves

Share capital
Reserves

Equity

(RfE) "BEFE
BRASK f# 1

[EEN

G

Rz

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
June 2023 and are signed on behalf by:

Zhao Xinyan
Director

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023

Zhang Yanqiang

Director

(#8)

42 ARB 2 BRA KRR FHEEE

(a) ARBZHBARREKGE)

2023 2022
—E-=F - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(18,946) 22,794
33,027 33,027
(51,973) (10,233)
(18,946) 22,794

ZEMBEREREEZTEN_-F
T=FRAZTABRRERRE

HEHOT
EFE

RA R

EF
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b) Reserve of the Company

42. KRB 2 BRA KRR FREED

(#8)

(b) A2 T

Share  Convertible
Share option notes equity Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
TRREE
RiaE  BRERE i ZitEE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T T AT T
Asat 1 Aprl 2021 W-B-—ENA-R 321,049 2,303 - (33182 8272
Loss and total comprehensive ENEEREZABRER
loss for the year - - - (6,684) (6,684)
Subscription of shares HERH 4,310 - - - 4,310
Issuance of convertiole note BRRER - - 494 - 494
Recognition of deferred tax upon NI ARZE R R
issuance of convertible note EITHA - - 81) . 81)
As at 31 March 2022 and R_EZZF-A=+-AR
at 1 April 2022 W-E-—fmA—-H 325,559 2,303 43 (338,508) (10,233)
Loss and total comprehensive ENEEREZAEBRES
loss for the year - - - (47,156) (47,156)
Grant of share option RLERE - 5,416 - - 5,416
Forfeiture of shares option R - (2,303) - 2,303 -
As at 31 March 2023 WZE-=%=f=1-H 325,559 5,416 413 (383,361) (51,973)
(c) Nature and purpose of the reserves (c) REMHEREN
(i) Share premium () R=EE
The share premium account of the Company is ﬂi}}%ﬁ;ﬂ% ERNENA(ZE
distributable to the owners of Company under the —F1E3])  WEARD
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman EIEEE =R =N NS
Islands subject to the provisions of the Company’s NZHBET » NATAH
memorandum and articles of association and R BERAANGIIES
provided that the Company will be in a position AEEDIE - HEARANTE
to payoff its debts as they fall due in the ordinary REREREZDIKRE B
course of business immediately following the % NEEEEERHEHTE
date on which the dividend is proposed to be KR EIHR 2 B -
distributed.
(i) Share options reserves (i) BIRERE
The share option reserves represent the fair value R EREEE R AR
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised ZEARITEERET R sk
share options granted by the Company. et B 2 AFE -
(iii) Convertible notes equity reserve (iii) AR EE R A
The convertible notes equity reserve represents AMEREEERFEEEAR
the value of the equity component of unexercised NAEEEITRE ﬁiﬁ 7]
convertible notes issued by the Company with },@H&;‘Tﬁﬁzi@éﬁ oz B
related deferred tax recognised. Items included B EHEELEHRIEDE
in convertible notes equity reserve will not be Rt AR B EEER
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 1,% HHIEEEEETeE
YA o
HRERERAGT BT =FFRK
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BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HIFE
43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

44.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following event after
reporting period:

On 23 June 2023, the Company entered into eight
separate subscription agreements with eight subscribers,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue, and the Subscribers have conditionally agreed
to subscribe for, the convertible notes with aggregate
principal amount of HK$31,950,000. Further details were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 25, 26
and 28 June 2023 (the “Announcement”). The completion
of issuance of the convertible note is subject to fulfilment of
the conditions precedents as set out in the Announcement.
Up to the date of approval and authorisation to issue the
consolidated financial statements, the Subscription is not
yet completed.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
2023.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2022-2023

43.

44.

BEHEREIR
SRR a MR EMEBO PIIREE
Sh - REBEHEMRERMT

RZE-_=ZFA=-+=8 " AR
jgﬁi)\% ﬁ%)\((wuﬁ%)\J)nT_L)\
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEFEEBRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE—_Z - =F=-A=+—HItFE
The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities ANEBERBERETBEE 2454 3

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted the 4 - AELKEBEHME(BHALAERRLE
audited financial statements of the Group, are set out below: R EHRER )| W

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-Zf T —T--F —ZT-THF —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Revenue Wz 162,530 323,634 505,709 441,778 230,039
Loss before tax BRIATER (69,461) (49,527) (27,448) (42,141) (22,842)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FEEHE R/ (Fx) 2,431 (152) (528) 885 392
Loss for the year from HECEEBR

continuing operations AEEER (67,030) (49,409) (27,976) (41,256) (22,450)
Profit/(loss) for the year from AN [F 4% | HiR & 7%

discontinued operation BiA (B8R) - - - - 5,304
Loss for the year NEEEE (67,030) (49,409) (27,976) (41,256) (17,146)
Attributable to: AT RS

Owners of the Company NAREERA (58,164) (41,082) (22,099) (31,739 (16,783)

Non-controlling interests g £ (8,866) (8,327) (5,877) (9,517) (363)

(67,030) (49,400) (27,976) (41,256) (17,146)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Year ended 31 March
BZ=-A=1t—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
B —E--fF —Z--F ZE-TF —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Total assets BEE 229,921 333,358 366,659 357,808 381,228
Total liabilities = (226,447) (257,310) (252,982) (234,687) (245,578)
Net assets BEFE 3,474 76,048 113,677 123,121 135,650
Non-controling interests FEE R s 16,719 32,478 38,256 43,904 52,942
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Major Properties

AY E Ay I P4
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-=-F=-A=+—HILHFE

Investment property REWE

Category of
Location Intended use lease term

1 B BERR GERSEYz

Commercial units on Commercial use Medium term lease
Level 1 to 3 and BERE RHATRAY
41 carparking spaces on

Basement, Yangguang Lifeng

Building* (formerly known as

Venice Building),

No. 130 Renmin South

Road, Zhongxincheng

District, Leshan City,

Sichuan Province,

The PRC

i

rmil&

241

FRL S

AR 13055

L5 BRANE (RSB AE)

1231

[EE AV

A1 EFE AL

Gross
floor area
WBEME
(sg.m.)
(FFF2K)

8,293.76

Properties held for sale BELEDE

Category of
Location Intended use lease term

i Bh BEAR IR SE P

Residential units on Commercial use Medium term lease
Level 5 to 21, Yangguang Lifeng EEI=EES FRERFE 4
Building* (formerly known as

Venice Building),

No. 130 Renmin

South Road, Zhongxincheng

District, Leshan City,

Sichuan Province,

The PRC

a3

m)lE

280

I @

AR E1305%

25 EEAE (RIBEREMAE)

SIEZE2112

F=EEf

* For identification purposes
* o EHEE
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Gross
floor area
REEER
(sg.m.)
(FFAK)

19,958.06

Group’s
interest
rEEZER
(%)

(%)

100

Group’s
interest
TEEZ R
(%)

(%)

100
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